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In 2006, CTG’s 40th year of business, we continued the improvement in our operating results by maintaining our strategic 

focus on providing in-demand niche solutions to key vertical markets. Revenues increased at a double-digit rate for the 

second consecutive year, rising 11 percent to $327.3 million following a 24 percent increase in 2005. We are pleased 

that the percentage of revenue growth in the last two years has exceeded that of any two-year period during the Y2K 

remediation, a record that few, if any, in our industry can match. CTG’s net income for 2006 was $3.5 million, or $0.21 

per diluted share, a 46 percent increase from net income of $2.4 million, or $0.14 per diluted share in 2005. Net income 

per share includes a three cent net impact per diluted share of adopting FASB Statement No. 123R Share-Based Payment 

(FAS 123R) on January 1, 2006. There was no expense for equity compensation in 2005 and prior years. 

In 2006 our operating margin improved from 1.7 percent in 2005 to 2.1 percent for the full year and 2.4 percent in the 

second half of 2006. While we made significant progress in improving operating margins in 2006, much work remains 

to return margins to the levels achieved prior to Y2K when our mix of staffing and solutions business was more evenly 

distributed. Driving further margin improvement remains a key focus that is directly linked to our long-term goal of moving 

our staffing/solutions business mix to 50/50 percent.     

We remain committed to our strategy based on the favorable results it has produced thus far and the positive reception to 

our market approach from our client base. In each of the last two years, CTG’s double-digit revenue growth substantially 

exceeded the growth rate of total technology spending. While we remain committed to continue growing our business at 

a greater rate than technology spending, in 2007 we are primarily focusing on further margin improvement as we build our 

higher margin solutions business. 

At the same time, staffing remains an important part of CTG’s business based on the strong cash flow and client relationships 

it provides us. While this business generates lower margins than it did in its peak years, CTG has adapted to changes in the 

market and pricing by developing a high volume, low cost model that secures our position as a leading staffing supplier 

to large technology companies and users. In 2006, our staffing business increased over 2005 despite a significant 

customer substantially reducing their requirements in the middle of the year. Despite this reduction, the growth in our 

billable headcount and staffing revenues was approximately 700 and $83 million, respectively since the beginning of 2005. 

This growth equates to an approximate 56 percent net increase in our staffing business over the last two years. We see 

significant opportunity to keep building our staffing business as large technology companies and users continue to reduce 

the number of external suppliers they use for IT staffing and move to a preferred supplier model utilizing a few large providers 

with wide geographic reach. Last year, CTG gained market share as other large technology services companies pared their 

preferred supplier list to a few IT service providers. 

During 2006, we continued to make significant investments in bringing in-demand solutions to market. We introduced an 

ITIL (Information Technology Infrastructure Library) offering and we also continued to actively market our robust offerings 

for information security, IT audit and advisory services, and testing and validation solutions. As a result, for the full year, 

our solutions business increased 12 percent based on our expanded sales efforts and service offerings. 

Letter to Shareholders
Dear Fellow Shareholders,

�

Company Profile

	 1	 Letter to Shareholders

	 4	 Opportunity Technology Service Providers

	 6	 Opportunity Healthcare

	10	 Opportunity Financial Services

	12	 Opportunity Industry and Government

	14	 Consolidated Summary:	
	 	 Five-Year Selected Financial Information	

	15	 Management’s Discussion and Analysis	
	 	 of Financial Condition and Results of Operation	

	23	 Consolidated Financial Statements	

	28	 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

	44	 Report of Independent Registered	
	 	 Public Accounting Firm

	45	 Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control	
	 	 Over Financial Reporting

	46	 Report of Independent Registered	
	 	 Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control

47	 Comparative Stock Performance

	48	 Corporate Information	

	49	 CTG Board of Directors and Officers.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

.

Table of Contents

Mission and Vision

Profile

CTG (NASDAQ:CTGX) applies vertical market knowledge to give our clients technology solutions that work. In 2006, CTG marked 
our 40th year of delivering information technology (IT) services that provide real business value to our customers. Our fully inte-
grated array of IT staffing and industry-focused IT solutions is backed by a time-tested suite of formal methodologies, a proprietary 
database of best practices, and an international network of strategic alliances and partnerships. Our 3,300 IT and business 
experts, based in a network of offices in North America and Europe, help our clients use IT to achieve their business objectives.

Mission

CTG’s mission is to provide IT services and solutions that add real business value to 
our customers while creating professional opportunities for our employees and value 
for our shareholders.

Vision

CTG’s vision is to be recognized as a leading provider of value-added IT services and 
solutions in our selected markets.
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In 2006, we also continued the active repurchase of CTG’s stock, acquiring 492,000 shares in open market transactions 

throughout the year. CTG has repurchased a total of 869,000 shares since announcing a 1.0 million share repurchase 

authorization in May 2005 in addition to an existing 210,000 share authorization. Our repurchase activity last year left 

341,000 shares available for repurchase at year-end 2006. In February 2007, our board of directors increased our autho-

rization to repurchase our stock by one million shares. We expect to continue the repurchase of our shares in 2007 as we 

believe it is in the best interest of our company and shareholders.  

CTG is on very solid ground to continue building our business based on our tradition of excellence and the many oppor-

tunities in the vertical markets we serve. Operationally, we have robust Staffing and Solutions offerings, significant expertise 

and strong client relationships in key vertical markets, and an established presence in North America and western Europe. 

Financially, we are also in a very strong position to continue building our business for the future with quality receivables, 

strong cash flow, and minimal debt. As expected, our decision to utilize a cash discount program with a major customer 

beginning in 2006 enabled us to significantly reduce our debt and borrowing needs last year. CTG’s long-term debt declined 

from $23.2 million at year-end 2005 to a debt-free position at year-end 2006.                          

In reflecting on our 40th year of business, I must acknowledge the many contributions over the years of our co-founders 

Randy Marks and David Baer who I am delighted are still involved with the Company, Randy as a Director and David as our 

Executive Vice President. After surviving a prolonged and difficult technology recession following Y2K that many companies 

in our industry did not, we are all very pleased that our 40th anniversary occurred at a point when CTG’s business is growing 

and there are many opportunities to secure an even brighter future for your company. The quality and dedication of CTG’s 

team of over 3,300 technology and business professionals located throughout North America and western Europe helped 

us reach this major milestone. Today, they remain the force moving CTG forward as we are growing our business at a rate 

exceeding the industry and pursuing new and exciting opportunities to build the business for the future. 

In 2007, we will again invest prudently in our business and expect to make further improvements in our business mix, 

margins and profitability, which are the critical drivers to continue increasing CTG’s value for the benefit of our shareholders. 

We remain optimistic about our future and, as always, your confidence and support are greatly appreciated.

During 2006, our largest new business wins were in our healthcare vertical and in our European operations. In healthcare, 

we assisted several large clinical implementation clients and secured several transitional outsourcing engagements while 

also ramping up our business in the United Kingdom National Healthcare Project, which will expand further as more 

regions implement the new systems in hospitals. Overall, the business and trends in our European operations are very 

positive. In addition to the work we are performing on the UK project, demand for our testing solutions remains strong 

from financial institutions. We are also making new inroads in European government markets where we secured new 

development and integration solutions business with an initial value of approximately $8.6 million US. Revenue growth in 

our European operations, including the UK healthcare project, was 22 percent in 2006. Collectively, we expect our new 

business in healthcare and in Europe will enhance our level and mix of solutions business in 2007. 

Our vertical market strategy supports our objective to grow our mix of solutions work because it provides us with the 

in-depth industry knowledge to develop technology solutions customized to the specific business needs of clients in 

these markets. This capability continues to be especially valuable in the healthcare vertical where knowledge of business 

practices and industry-specific technology applications is critical to delivering technology solutions with high functionality 

and business value. As one of the leading U.S. providers of technology and business solutions to the healthcare industry, 

CTG has and will continue to capitalize on the significant opportunities in this market where technology investments and 

employment growth are increasing at a greater rate than virtually any other sector in the domestic economy. Accordingly, 

most of our investments in 2007 will be to support continued building of our healthcare capabilities and business, where 

we have grown revenues at a double-digit pace in recent years. Specifically, we plan to significantly increase our sales 

force, open an office in Germany to serve an existing client, expand our transitional application management business 

through the centers opened in Philadelphia and Dallas in 2006, and broaden our offering for the health insurance (payer) 

market and RHIOs (Regional Health Information Organizations), a new, emerging market of payers, providers, and 

government entities.           

A key measure of the success of our vertical market strategy is that just over 75 percent of our 2006 business was in three 

major verticals:  technology service providers (41 percent), healthcare (24 percent) and financial services (10 percent). The 

healthcare percentage reflects the combination of healthcare providers, health insurance companies, life sciences, health-

care associated government, and RHIO business.  

On June 6, 2006, we moved the listing of CTG’s shares from the New York Stock Exchange to the NASDAQ Stock Market 

and now trade under the symbol CTGX. NASDAQ is the stock market for most publicly traded technology companies and 

many of the world’s leading growth companies across all industry sectors, which made it an opportune time for us to move 

to the stock market that provides the greatest visibility among investors in our sector and in growth companies. Additionally, 

NASDAQ’s system of multiple market makers and its robust service offering for issuers are beneficial as we continue the 

effort begun in 2006 to expand our investor relations program and outreach to investors. We presented at several investor 

conferences in the second half of 2006, and expect to continue an active investor relations program in 2007. The 2006 

year-end closing price of our shares was 20.3 percent higher than at year-end 2005. 

James R. Boldt
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

James R. Boldt
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
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Opportunity Technology Service Providers

CTG targets technology service providers as a vertical mar-
ket because these firms are among the largest consumers of 
external information technology support. Our primary focus in 
serving this market is to provide large-volume, low-cost staff-
ing support through our Strategic Staffing business unit. CTG 
provides technology resources to these businesses to support 
project management, system development, enterprise software 
implementation, engineering design and support, application 
maintenance and enhancement, testing and quality assurance 
documentation, and infrastructure support. 

CTG offers this market a low-cost, high-value option for large-
scale staffing engagements based on our cost-effective over-
head model, reputation and references in the marketplace, 
and international experience and widespread geographic 
presence. Our infrastructure combines the management, 
methodologies and state-of-the-art tools to effectively support 
large users of technology while employing best practices in 
speed, quality, and price. 

Because CTG already has established long-term relationships 
with many of the leading technology service providers, we 
are ideally positioned to capitalize on the opportunities in the 
technology service providers vertical as these companies 
continue to gain market share. At the same time, this market, 
as well as large corporate technology users, is continuing to 
aggregate large technology staffing providers to obtain best-in-
class staffing resources to complement their business needs. 
CTG’s historical performance and excellent reputation in the 
marketplace combined with our disciplined methodologies, 
provide value-added support for our large IT staffing clients. 

41% of 2006 Revenue

Excellence & Opportunities

n	Proven, certified management and recruiting	
methodologies and processes customized for	
each client

n	 37 year relationship with largest customer

n	 International experience and widespread	
geographic presence   

Excellence
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

n	Technology Service Providers increasing	
market share

n	 Large-volume, low-cost staffing delivery model

n	Consolidation of preferred vendors into	
strategic partners

Opportunities
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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Providers

One of CTG’s fast growing vertical markets is healthcare which increased its revenue by 22 percent in 2006 with 86 percent of 
its work performed for provider organizations. Our vertical practice serving this market is CTG HealthCare Solutions (CTGHS), a 
leading information technology consulting firm focused on helping healthcare organizations achieve financial and clinical objec-
tives by using information systems more effectively. CTGHS has national reach and currently supports 92 healthcare providers 
located throughout the United States. Europe represents a significant emerging market for CTG’s healthcare business as several 
countries in the European Union are expected to follow the United Kingdom’s lead in adopting U.S. healthcare software for 
hospitals to enhance cost reduction and care management. 

The range of solutions that CTGHS provides healthcare provider clients includes strategic consulting, clinical and financial 
solutions, business and clinical process redesign, implementation and support of all major healthcare software packages, and 
application management through two remote support centers opened in 2006. 

Differentiators that support CTGHS’ ability to capitalize on healthcare technology opportunities are our ability to provide custom-
ized value–oriented solutions and our proprietary Exemplar methodologies for clinical transformation, care continuity planning 
and implementation sourcing. Our reputation for quality continues with CTGHS being ranked in 2006 as the number one 
provider of planning and assessments and the number two provider of technical consulting by KLAS Enterprises* “Top 20: 2006 
Mid-Year Report Card.”* 

In Professional Services spending, which covers Consulting, Development and Integration as well as IT Management and Business 
Process Management, the healthcare provider industry is expected to remain a leading industry sector with Gartner projecting 
compound annual industry growth rates for the 2007-2009 timeframe to be 8.3 percent in the United States and 9.9 percent in 
western Europe. Additionally, clinical systems are expected to remain the focus of increased IT professional services spending. 
(Source: Gartner Dataquest) This trend represents a two-pronged opportunity for CTGHS as an industry leader in healthcare 
applications and as a major provider of transitional application management support for applications being replaced. 

Opportunity Healthcare
24% of 2006 Revenue

*© 2006 KLAS Enterprises, LLC All rights reserved. www.healthcomputing.com
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n	 Industry leader in implementing healthcare applications

n	Rated #1 by KLAS* in planning and assessments and #2 in technical consulting

n	Highest KLAS scores for Other IT Outsourcing for our transitional application	
management services

n	Supplier to UK National Healthcare System Project

Excellence
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

n	Worldwide demographics increasing demand for healthcare

n	Rising U.S. demand for clinical transformation and transitional outsourcing

n	Expectation that other European countries will look to adopt U.S. healthcare software

n	CTG’s established European presence and references

Opportunities
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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Opportunity Healthcare

Life Sciences

In the vibrant life sciences market, we are targeting in North 
America and Europe the largest pharmaceutical and bio-
technology companies, medical device and diagnostics 
firms, and contract research organizations. This strategy 
leverages CTG’s established strategic relationships with 
several large pharmaceutical companies and considers 
that capital and external IT expenditures for the life sciences 
market exceed most vertical markets, particularly among 
the largest companies. 

Historically, CTG’s service offering for the life sciences market 
focused on validation and testing of FDA-regulated software 
and systems. Recognizing that this service is increasingly 
becoming commoditized in the United States, we are evolving 
our service offering from staffing assistance to client purchase 
of a deliverable package approach. We are also expanding 
our life sciences offering to include data analytics solutions 
which identify patterns of information in data and utilize that 
information to enhance research, manufacturing, and mar-
keting. In conjunction with the launch of this new offering, 
we formed a partnership in 2006 with the New York State 
Center of Excellence for Bioinformatics and Life Sciences to 
access high-end research resources in a cost-effective and 
flexible way. Plans to move to a packaged delivery approach 
for validation and testing services and new data analytics 
solutions both support our objective of increasing higher 
margin work.      

Excellence & Opportunities

n	Significant validation and testing experience for	
major life sciences companies

n	Healthcare payer market experience and references

n	Knowledge in aligning IT with strategic	
business objectives

Excellence
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

n	Expanded offering for healthcare payer market

n	RHIOs consolidating provider and payer markets needs

n	 Life sciences companies invest significantly	
in technology

Opportunities
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Payers

The payer market represents a significant market and grow-
ing market opportunity for CTG’s healthcare business. In the 
United States, the market includes private health payers and 
government payers including state governments administering 
federal programs. An emerging target customer in the payer 
market is the Regional Heath Insurance Organization (RHIO), 
a consortium of providers, payers and governments work-
ing in partnership to lower healthcare costs while improving 
service delivery and the health of the insured population. 

CTG’s offerings supporting the payer market include: 

n	 IT budget, staff and infrastructure alignment, 

n	 core system testing and IT quality process 
development of new product roll-outs, 

n	 enterprise risk management assessments and 
remediation, and 

n	 data analytics for disease and case management 
and wellness program tracking. 

Opportunities in the U.S. health insurance market are being 
driven by government mandates and cost reduction initiatives. 
Demand for solutions that support these needs of the payer 
market is reflected in projected compound annual growth rates 
for the 2007-2009 timeframe in Professional Services to be 
8.2 percent (Source: Gartner Dataquest). The depth of CTG’s 
healthcare consulting expertise and team of subject matter 
experts, along with strong references on leading edge payer 
initiatives, enhance our ability to continue growing our health 
insurance business. CTG’s status as one of a few technology 
service companies with experience supporting large provid-
ers, physician groups, payers and RHIOs further differentiates 
us in the healthcare payer market. 
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The global banking, finance, securities and insurance (BFSI) market remains one of the largest users of information technology. 
CTG has extensive vertical market experience in the BFSI market, with specialized expertise in banking and insurance busi-
ness processes, and client references ranging from small local institutions to Global 1000 companies. CTG also has significant 
international experience in financial services, which is our largest vertical market in Europe, accounting for 29.6 percent of 2006 
revenues from our European business.

CTG’s current BFSI service offering focuses on compliance, testing, document solutions, and IT service management. CTG’s 
strong information security capabilities enhance our overall service offering for the BFSI market. 

To increase our business in the BFSI vertical, we are marketing assessments in each of our solutions offerings as an entrée 
to building long-term and larger revenue opportunities. Additionally, we continue to market to financial institutions our flexible 
outsourcing offering which combines onshore interface and offshore development. This approach is designed to enhance 
the offshore outsourcing experience for financial services clients while reducing the service and security risks associated with 
traditional offshore outsourcing. 

The most significant market trend driving external technology spending in the domestic BFSI market is compliance. CTG 
offers BFSI clients extensive experience and references in regulatory compliance, as well as the ability to develop complete 
automated solutions for compliance reporting. The demand for third-party testing support is also growing as U.S. financial 
services providers increasingly adopt independent testing as a best practice because of the high level of software and services 
developed or provided offshore.

Opportunity Financial Services
10% of 2006 Revenue
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n	Strong information security capabilities

n	Extensive experience in regulatory compliance

n	Global testing experience for financial institutions

Excellence
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

n	Rising industry demand for testing and information	
security solutions

n	 Flexible outsourcing offering providing onshore	
interface/offshore development

n	Established relationships with major U.S. and European	
banks and insurers

Opportunities
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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CTG supports clients in a broad range of industries with our largest business concentration in 2006 outside of our three major 
verticals in telecommunications, oil and gas, and government. Current demand in this sector remains very strong for two of 
our core solutions offerings: information security and Sarbanes-Oxley IT audit compliance support. In the European markets, 
governments are increasingly looking to external suppliers of technology services to provide development and integration and 
outsourcing support. In 2006, CTG Europe secured several significant government solutions engagements and sees additional 
opportunity to grow our European government business going forward.   

Logistics and internet-based supply chains are the solutions sets where CTG has performed the most significant work for 
manufacturing clients. Our work automating distribution and warehouse facilities numbers in the hundreds of facilities—ranging 
from less than 20,000 square feet to over two million square feet. CTG also has successfully developed wireless logistics 
solutions capable of operating in the most challenging manufacturing environments for radio frequency systems. Our logistics 
and distribution solutions enable manufacturing and retail clients to better manage inventory, enhance customer loyalty, 
manufacture products more efficiently, and reduce operating costs. CTG’s expertise and experience in health, safety, and 
environment (HSE) is another capability that is a strong fit with the needs of the manufacturing sector. 

An emerging trend in the domestic manufacturing sector is the outsourcing of some or all IT functions by manufacturers to 
reduce costs and focus energies and resources on their core business. Our outsourcing model in the manufacturing sector is 
our 12-year relationship managing all IT functions for Lone Star Steel, a leading manufacturer of tubular steel products. With our 
20 years of outsourcing experience, CTG is in an excellent position to capitalize on the emerging outsourcing opportunity in the 
domestic manufacturing sector. 

Opportunity Industry & Government
25% of 2006 Revenue
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n	 20 years of experience in outsourcing

n	Diverse industry experience developing customized solutions

n	Strong logistics experience and references

Excellence
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

n	Expanding needs of European Union governments

n	Rising industry demand for information security and IT audit support

n	Continuing use of technology to support manufacturing and	
distribution processes

Opportunities
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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14 15

(amounts in millions, except per-share data) 	 	 2006 	 	 2005 	 	 2004 	 	 2003 	 	 2002

Operating Data
Revenue 	 $	 327.3 	 $	 294.5  	 $	 237.1  	 $	 245.5  	 $	 256.1

Operating income 	 $	 6.9* 	 $	 4.9  	 $	 3.1  	 $	 5.5  	 $	 6.0

Income from continuing operations before 	 	
	 cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

 	 	 	
	 $	 3.5*

 	 	 	
	 $	 2.4

 	
 	 $	 3.0

 	
 	 $	 2.7

 	
 	 $	 2.8

Net income (loss) 	 $	 3.5* 	 $	 2.4  	 $	 (1.4)**  	 $	 2.7  	 $	 (35.7)***

Basic net income per share from continuing 	 	
	 operations before cumulative effect of change in	
	 accounting principle

 	 	 	
	
	 $	 0.21

 	 	 	
	
	 $	 0.14

  	 	 	
	
 	 $	 0.18

 	
	
 	 $	 0.16

 	
	
 	 $	 0.17

Basic net income (loss) per share 	 $	 0.21 	 $	 0.14  	 $	 (0.09)**  	 $	 0.16  	 $	 (2.15)***

Diluted net income per share from continuing	
	 operations before cumulative effect of change in	
	 accounting principle

 	 	 	
	
	 $	 0.21

 	 	 	
	
	 $	 0.14

  	 	 	
	
 	 $	 0.17

 	
	
 	 $	 0.16

 	
	
 	 $	 0.16

Diluted net income (loss) per share 	 $	 0.21 	 $	 0.14  	 $	 (0.08)**  	 $	 0.16  	 $	 (2.11)***

Cash dividend per share 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 –

Financial Position
Working capital 	 $	 21.7 	 $	 40.3  	 $	 17.2  	 $	 16.5  	 $	 16.5

Total assets 	 $	 111.7 	 $	 128.3  	 $	 103.8  	 $	 101.4  	 $	 105.3

Long-term debt 	 $	 – 	 $	 23.2  	 $	 –  	 $	 –  	 $	 8.5

Shareholders’ equity 	 $	 61.6 	 $	 57.5  	 $	 57.0  	 $	 56.6  	 $	 52.8****

The selected operating data and financial position information set forth below for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 
31, 2006, has been derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements. Information reported for the years 2002 and 
2003 has been revised, as applicable, to reflect the disposition of CTG Nederland, B.V. effective January 1, 2004. 

Forward-Looking Statements
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements by manage-
ment and the Company that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are based on information 
as of the date of this report. The Company assumes no obligation to update these statements based on information from and after the date of 
this report. Generally, forward-looking statements include words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “projects,” “could,” “may,” “might,” “should,” “will” and words and phrases of similar impact. The forward-looking statements include, 
but are not limited to, statements regarding future operations, industry trends or conditions and the business environment, and statements 
regarding future levels of, or trends in, revenue, operating expenses, capital expenditures, and financing. The forward-looking statements are 
made pursuant to safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Numerous factors could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including the following: (i) industry conditions, including fluctuations in demand 
for IT services, (ii) the availability to us of qualified professional staff, (iii) domestic and foreign industry competition, (iv) rate and wage inflation 
or deflation, (v) risks associated with operating in foreign jurisdictions, (vi) the impact of current and future laws and government regulation, 
as well as repeal or modification of same, affecting the IT solutions and staffing industry, taxes and the Company’s operations in particular, 
(vii) renegotiations, nullification, or breaches of contracts with customers, vendors, subcontractors or other parties, (viii) consolidation among 
the Company’s competitors or customers, (ix) the partial or complete loss of the revenue the Company generates from IBM, and (x) the risks 
described elsewhere herein and from time to time in the Company’s reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Industry Trends 
The market demand for the Company’s services is heavily dependent on IT spending by major corporations, organizations and government 
entities in the markets and regions that we serve. The pace of technology change and changes in business requirements and practices 
of our clients all have a significant impact on the demand for the services that we provide. Competition for new engagements and pric-
ing pressure has been strong. We have responded to these challenging business conditions by focusing on two main services, which 
are providing strategic staffing and IT solutions to our clients. We have in turn promoted a majority of our services through three vertical 
market focus areas, which are technology service providers, healthcare (which includes services provided to health care providers, health 
insurers, and life sciences companies), and financial services. Revenue from these three vertical areas totaled 41%, 24%, and 10% of total 
consolidated revenue in 2006; 41%, 24%, and 8% of total consolidated revenue in 2005; and 28%, 28%, and 13% of total consolidated 
revenue in 2004, respectively. Finally, we have closely monitored and managed the utilization of our billable personnel, and managed our 
selling, general and administrative costs as a percentage of revenue.

The IT services industry is extremely competitive and characterized by continuous changes in customer requirements and improvements 
in technologies. Our competition varies significantly by geographic region, as well as by the type of service provided. Many of our competi-
tors are larger than we are and have greater financial, technical, sales and marketing resources than we have. In addition, we frequently 
compete with a client’s own internal IT staff. Our industry is being impacted by the growing use of lower-cost offshore delivery capabilities 
(primarily India). There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to compete successfully with existing or future competitors or 
that future competition will not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, when the services have been rendered, when the 
price is determinable, and when collectibility of the amounts due is reasonably assured. For time-and-material contracts revenue is recognized 
as hours are incurred and costs are expended. For contracts with periodic billing schedules, primarily monthly, revenue is recognized as 
services are rendered to the customer. Revenue for fixed price contracts is recognized as per the proportional method of accounting using an 
input-based approach whereby salary and indirect labor costs incurred are measured and compared to the total estimate of costs at comple-
tion for a project. Revenue is recognized based upon the percent complete calculation of total incurred costs to total estimated costs. 

Revenue from time-and-material, periodic fee, and fixed price contracts accounted for using the percentage of completion method of 
accounting, as a percentage of total consolidated revenue, totaled approximately 90%, 6%, and 4% in 2006, 92%, 5%, and 3% in 2005, 
and 89%, 7%, and 4% in 2004, respectively. 

Stock-Based Employee Compensation 
On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” and related interpretations on a modified 
prospective basis, which required the Company to record equity-based compensation expense for all awards granted after the date of 
adoption and for the unvested portion of previously granted awards outstanding as of the date of adoption. This FAS establishes standards 
for the accounting for transactions in which the Company exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. The standard requires the 
Company to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based upon the grant date fair 
value of the award. Currently, the Company issues stock options and restricted stock in exchange for employee and director services.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation

Consolidated Summary –
Five-Year Selected Financial Information

	 *	During 2006, the Comopany adopted the provisions of FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” and related interpretations. The Company recognized compensation expense of $856,000 	
		 in its consolidated statement of operations as selling, general and administrative expenses. The tax benefit recorded for this compensation expense was $260,000, resulting in a net 	
		 after tax cost to the Company of $596,000 for 2006.

	 **	Includes a loss from discontinued operations of approximately $4.4 million, or $0.27 per basic share and $0.25 per diluted share from the disposition of CTG Nederland, B.V. effective 	
		 January 1, 2004.

	 ***	Includes a charge for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle related to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standard (FAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 	
		 Assets,” which reduced net income by $37.0 million, basic net income per share by $2.23, and diluted net income per share by $2.19.

	****	During 2005 and 2006, the Company identified certain errors that affected the Company’s retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive loss balances as of December 31, 	
		 2002. These balances have been revised to include the net impact of those adjustments which totaled an increase of approximately $0.3 million to the Company’s shareholders’ equity 	
		 balance. See note 2, “Adjustment to Shareholders’ Equity as of December 31, 2003”.
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On July 24, 2006, the Company was informed by a significant customer of a reduction in their need for approximately 350 of CTG’s staff. 
The reduction was not a result of CTG’s performance, but rather a change in our client’s business needs. The reduction, which ultimately 
totaled approximately 450 staff of the 1,200 staff added between January 2005 and June 2006, occurred in the Company’s lower margin 
staffing business. This staff reduction equates to a reduction of approximately $35 million of annual revenue. 

During 2006, the Company has experienced a slight increase in demand for the high-growth IT solutions business in which it is focused. 
The areas of greatest demand in the solutions practice have been testing, clinical transformation projects, and transitional outsourcing. As 
a result of this increase in demand, coupled with the reduction in the 2006 third quarter of the staffing headcount previously discussed, the 
mix of the Company’s staffing/solutions revenue increased to 70%/30% at December 31, 2006 from 71%/29% at December 31, 2005. 

The significant increase in revenue in the Company’s European operations was also primarily due to the addition of billable staff as compared 
to the prior year as demand for the Company’s solution offerings, primarily in the testing area, remains strong. The staffing business in 
Europe has remained relatively consistent year-over-year. Adding to the increase in year-over-year revenue was the strength of the curren-
cies of Belgium, the United Kingdom, and Luxembourg, the countries in which the Company’s European subsidiaries operate. In Belgium 
and Luxembourg, the functional currency is the Euro, while in the United Kingdom the functional currency is the British pound. Had there 
been no change in these exchange rates from the 2005 to 2006, total European revenue would have been approximately $0.5 million lower, 
or $58.4 million as compared to the $58.9 million reported.

In 2006, IBM was the Company’s largest customer, accounting for $115.4 million or 35.3% of consolidated revenue as compared to $105.5 
million or 35.8% of 2005 consolidated revenue. A significant portion of the staff added in North America from January 1, 2005 to June 
30, 2006 was with IBM. During 2004, the Company signed an addendum to the Technical Services Agreement it has with IBM making it 
a predominant supplier to IBM’s Systems and Technology Group which has driven a large portion of the increase in the demand for the 
Company’s staffing services. In 2006, the Company signed an addendum to this agreement which extends its expiration date to December 
31, 2008. We expect to continue to derive a significant portion of our revenue from IBM in 2007 and in future years. However, a significant 
decline or the loss of the revenue from IBM, as occurred in the 2006 third quarter, would have a significant negative effect on our operating 
results. The Company’s accounts receivable from IBM at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 amounted to $10.9 million and 
$33.9 million, respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue in either 2006 or 2005. 

Direct costs, defined as costs for billable staff including billable out-of-pocket expenses, were 77.3% of revenue in 2006 as compared to 
77% of 2005 revenue. The increase in direct costs as a percentage of revenue in 2006 as compared to 2005 is primarily due to an increase 
in revenue of approximately $20 million for the Company’s staffing business in 2006 as compared to 2005, which generally yields lower 
direct profit margins than the remainder of the Company’s business. 

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were 20.6% of revenue in 2006 as compared to 21.3% of revenue in 2005. The 
decrease in SG&A expense as a percentage of revenue reflects the Company’s continued efforts to control and reduce its SG&A costs in 
various areas as a percentage of revenue. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” 
and related interpretations. With the adoption of the standard, the calculated cost of its stock-based compensation awards is recognized 
in the Company’s statement of operations over the period in which an employee or director is required to provide the services for its award. 
The Company recognized compensation expense of $856,000 in 2006. 

Operating income was 2.1% of revenue in 2006 as compared to 1.7% of revenue in 2005. The Company’s operating income as a percent-
age of revenue generally increased throughout 2006 primarily due to the reductions, as a percentage of revenue, of SG&A costs. Operating 
income from North American operations was $4.1 million in 2006 as compared to $3.0 million in 2005, while European operations recorded 
operating income of $2.8 million in 2006 and $1.9 million in 2005. 

Interest and other expense, net was 0.2% of revenue in 2006 and 0.5% in 2005. The decrease as a percentage of revenue from 2005 
to 2006 is primarily due to lower average outstanding debt balances in 2006 resulting from a cash discount advance payment program 
entered into with a significant customer in the first quarter of 2006. During 2006, the average outstanding debt balance was $6.6 million 
as compared to $17.3 million in 2005. 

The effective tax rate (ETR) resulting from the provision for income taxes from continuing operations was 43.2% in 2006. The ETR is cal-
culated quarterly based upon current assumptions relating to the full year’s estimated operating results, and various tax related items. The 
ETR in 2006 was increased primarily due to several items that increased tax expense by approximately $0.2 million. The Company added 
approximately $0.1 million to its tax reserves due to a change in estimate of recoverability, and increased the valuation allowance for the 
net operating loss for Canada by approximately $0.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2006. Without these items the ETR in 2006 would have 
been approximately 39.5%. The ETR in 2005 was 31.8%. The ETR rate in 2005 was reduced primarily due to several items that created 
net tax benefits totaling approximately $0.3 million. The Company released a net amount of approximately $0.1 million from its tax reserves 
primarily due to a change in judgment and settlement of open items, and also reduced a valuation allowance for its net operating loss for 
Canada by approximately $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2005. Without these items the Company’s ETR in 2005 would have been 
approximately 40.1%. 

Net income from continuing operations for 2006 was 1.1% of revenue or $0.21 per diluted share, compared to net income from continuing 
operations of 0.8% of revenue or $0.14 per diluted share in 2005. Diluted earnings per share were calculated using 16.7 million and 17.1 
million weighted-average equivalent shares outstanding in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The year-over-year decrease in shares is primarily 
due to treasury stock purchases made in 2006. 

With the adoption of the standard, the calculated cost of its equity-based compensation awards is recognized in the Company’s statements 
of operations over the period in which an employee or director is required to provide the services for the award. Compensation cost will not 
be recognized for employees or directors who do not render the requisite services. The Company recognizes the expense for equity-based 
compensation in its statements of operations on a straight-line basis based upon awards that are ultimately expected to vest. As part of 
the adoption of the standard, the Company is required to estimate forfeitures. These estimates will be revised, as applicable, in subsequent 
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company’s pro forma information related to stock-based compensation for 
periods prior to January 1, 2006 (see note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for “Stock-Based Employee Compensation”), 
the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized compensation expense of $856,000 in its consolidated statement of 
operations as selling, general and administrative expenses. The tax benefit recorded for this compensation expense was $260,000, result-
ing in a net after tax cost to the Company of $596,000 for 2006. No compensation cost was recognized in the statements of operations 
for either 2005 or 2004 as the Company continued to apply the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (APB No. 25) and related interpretations, as all options granted by the 
Company had an exercise price that was equal to or greater than the underlying common stock at the date of grant.

On November 16, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the acceleration of the vesting of all unvested out-of-the money 
stock options previously awarded to its employees, including its executive officers and its directors under the Company’s equity compensa-
tion plans having an exercise price greater than $3.48, which was the closing price of the Company’s common stock on that date. Options 
to purchase approximately 1.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock became exercisable immediately. The weighted-average 
exercise price of the options subject to the acceleration was $4.69. 

The purpose of the acceleration was to enable the Company to eliminate future compensation expense the Company would otherwise 
recognize in its statements of operations with respect to these accelerated options upon the adoption of FAS 123R. The Board of Directors 
took the action in the belief that it is in the best interest of the shareholders to minimize future compensation expense associated with stock 
options upon adoption of FAS 123R. The estimate of the maximum future compensation expense that would have been recorded in the 
Company’s statements of operations had the vesting of these options not been accelerated was approximately $1.4 million.

Results of Operations
The table below sets forth data as contained on the consolidated statements of operations, with the percentage information calculated as 
a percentage of consolidated revenue as reported on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

	 Year ended December 31,
	 (percentage of revenue)

	
	 2006

	
	 2005

	
	 2004

Revenue 	 100.0	% 	 100.0	 % 	 100.0	 %

Direct costs 	 77.3	% 	 77.0	 % 	 73.0	 %

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 	 20.6	% 	 21.3	 % 	 25.7	 %

Operating income 	 2.1	% 	 1.7	 % 	 1.3	 %

Interest and other expense, net 	 0.2	% 	 0.5	 % 	 0.3	 %

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 	 1.9	% 	 1.2	 % 	 1.0	 %

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 	 0.8	% 	 0.4	 % 	 (0.3)	 %

Income from continuing operations 	 1.1	% 	 0.8	 % 	 1.3	 %

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 	 0.0	% 	 0.0	 % 	 (1.9)	 %

Net income (loss)   	  1.1	%   	  0.8	 % 	 (0.6)	 %

2006 as compared to 2005 
In 2006, the Company recorded revenue of $327.3 million, an increase of 11.1% compared to revenue of $294.5 million recorded in 2005. 
Revenue from the Company’s North American operations totaled $268.4 million in 2006, an increase of 9% when compared to 2005 
revenue of $246.2 million. Revenue from the Company’s European operations totaled $58.9 million in 2006, an increase of 21.9% when 
compared to 2005 revenue of $48.3 million. The European revenue represented 18% and 16.4% of 2006 and 2005 consolidated revenue, 
respectively. The Company’s revenue includes reimbursable expenses billed to customers. These expenses totaled $9.4 million and $9.2 
million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

In North America, the revenue increase in 2006 over 2005 is primarily the result of adding approximately 1,200 billable staff from January 
1, 2005 through the end of the second quarter of 2006, largely due to the expansion of the IBM staffing business. During 2005, the 
Company signed an addendum to the Technical Services Agreement it has with IBM making it a predominant supplier to IBM’s Systems 
and Technology Group. The revenue increase in North America in 2006 from the addition of billable staff was partially offset as the 
Company entered a cash discount advance payment program with a significant customer which reduced revenue and operating income 
by approximately $1.6 million.
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Net income from continuing operations for 2005 was 0.8% of revenue or $0.14 per diluted share, compared to net income from continuing 
operations of 1.3% of revenue or $0.17 per diluted share in 2004. Diluted earnings per share were calculated using 17.1 million weighted-
average equivalent shares outstanding in both 2005 and 2004. 

Disposition of Operations
During the first quarter of 2004, the Company disposed of its Dutch operating subsidiary, CTG Nederland B.V. The effective date of the 
disposition was January 1, 2004, and the transaction has been treated as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements contained in this report. As part of the transaction, the Company retained the assets and liabilities related to the defined-benefit 
plan for its previous employees in The Netherlands (NDBP). At the time of the disposition, the net assets of the plan totaled approximately 
$0.5 million. The activities of the NDBP are discussed in note 9, “Deferred Compensation Benefits.”  This unit had previously been included 
in the financial results of the Company’s European operations.

The loss from discontinued operations resulting from this divestiture totaled approximately $4.4 million in 2004, with approximately $4.3 
million of that loss incurred in the first quarter of 2004. The loss includes a cumulative loss on disposal of approximately $3.9 million, and 
approximately $0.5 million from a foreign currency adjustment which had previously been reported as a direct charge to shareholders’ 
equity. All activities related to this subsidiary have been removed from the Company’s individual accounts and subsequently combined and 
included on the line entitled “Loss from discontinued operations” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.”  
This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial statements in accordance 
with FAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The Interpretation documents recognition and measurement attributes for the financial state-
ment recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a company’s tax return. This new Interpretation is 
effective for the Company for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2007. Although the Company is currently in the process of completing its 
evaluation of the effect that the adoption of this Interpretation will have on its financial condition or results of operations, it does not believe 
the impact will be material. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This FAS defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring 
fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This FAS 
will be effective for the Company for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2008. Although the Company is currently evaluating the effect that 
the adoption of this FAS will have on its financial condition or results of operations, it does not believe the impact, if any, will be material. 

Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires 
the Company’s management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. The Company’s significant accounting policies are included in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements. These policies, along with the underlying assumptions and judgments made by the Company’s management in their applica-
tion, have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company identifies its most critical accounting 
policies as those that are the most pervasive and important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial position and results of operations, 
and that require the most difficult, subjective and/or complex judgments by management regarding estimates about matters that are inher-
ently uncertain. The Company’s most critical accounting policies are those related to goodwill valuation, income taxes, specifically relating 
to deferred taxes and valuation allowances, and the discount rates and expected return on plan assets, as applicable, used to calculate 
the Company’s pension obligations. 

Goodwill Valuation – The goodwill balance of $35.7 million is evaluated annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances indicate 
impairment may exist. This evaluation, as applicable, is based on estimates and assumptions that may analyze the appraised value of similar 
transactions from which the goodwill arose, the appraised value of similar companies, or estimates of future discounted cash flows. The esti-
mates and assumptions on which the Company’s evaluations are based necessarily involve judgments and are based on currently available 
information, any of which could prove wrong or inaccurate when made, or become wrong or inaccurate as a result of subsequent events. 

Under FAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company is required to test its goodwill for impairment at least annually. 
During 2006, the Company changed its annual impairment test date from January 1 (effective valuation date of December 31) to the end 
of its October fiscal month-end. The Company believes its October fiscal month-end is preferable as it provides additional time prior to 
the Company’s year-end of December 31 to complete the impairment testing and report the results of those tests in its annual filing on 
Form 10-K. At our respective measurement dates for 2006, 2005 and 2004, with the assistance of an independent appraisal company, 
the Company completed its annual valuation of the business unit to which the Company’s goodwill relates. These valuations indicated 
that the estimated fair value of the business unit exceeded the carrying value of this unit in each period. Additionally, there are no facts or 
circumstances that arose during 2004, 2005 or 2006 that led management to believe the goodwill was impaired. Accordingly, the Company 
believes no impairment was required to be recorded in its consolidated financial results. Changes in business conditions which could impact 
future valuations however, could lead to impairment charges. 

2005 as compared to 2004 
In 2005, the Company recorded revenue of $294.5 million, an increase of 24.2% compared to revenue of $237.1 million recorded in 2004. 
Revenue from the Company’s North American operations totaled $246.2 million in 2005, an increase of 27.1% when compared to 2004 
revenue of $193.7 million. Revenue from the Company’s European operations totaled $48.3 million in 2005, an increase of 11.3% when 
compared to 2004 revenue of $43.4 million. The European revenue represented 16.4% and 18.3% of 2005 and 2004 consolidated revenue, 
respectively. The Company’s revenue included reimbursable expenses billed to customers. These expenses totaled $9.2 million and $8.3 
million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

In North America, the revenue increase in 2005 over 2004 was primarily the result of adding approximately 1,000 or 55% additional billable 
staff in 2005, which was largely due to the expansion of the IBM staffing business. During 2005, the Company signed an addendum to the 
Technical Services Agreement it has with IBM making it a predominant supplier to IBM’s Systems and Technology Group. This addendum 
had, at that time, an expiration date of December 31, 2007. Although the North American billable staff increased by approximately 55%, 
North American revenue only increased 27.1% as a large percentage of the increase was in the Company’s staffing business which gener-
ally yields lower bill rates than the remainder of the Company’s business, and the staff were added throughout the year rather than being 
in place for the entire year. 

In 2005, IBM was the Company’s largest customer, accounting for $105.5 million or 35.8% of consolidated revenue as compared to $52.6 
million or 22.2% of 2004 revenue. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue in either 2005 or 2004. 

The increase in revenue in the Company’s European operation in 2005 as compared to 2004 was primarily due to an increase in demand 
in 2005 for the testing services offered by the Company. There was a nominal effect on revenue for changes in year-over-year foreign cur-
rency exchange rates. In Belgium and Luxembourg, the functional currency is the Euro, while in the United Kingdom the functional currency 
is the British pound. Had there been no change in these exchange rates from 2004 to 2005, total European revenue would have been 
approximately $0.1 million higher, or $48.4 million in total in Europe as compared to the $48.3 million reported in 2005. 

Direct costs, defined as costs for billable staff including billable out-of-pocket expenses, were 77.0% of revenue in 2005 as compared 
to 73.0% of 2004 revenue. The increase in direct costs as a percentage of revenue in 2005 as compared to 2004 was primarily due to 
the significant increase in the headcount for the Company’s staffing business, which generally yields lower direct profit margins than the 
remainder of the Company’s business. 

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were 21.3% of revenue in 2005 as compared to 25.7% of revenue in 2004. The 
decrease in SG&A expense as a percentage of revenue reflected a higher concentration of staffing business in the Company’s sales 
mix in 2005, which required a lower level of support from the Company’s SG&A staff than the remainder of the Company’s business. 
The decrease in the year-over-year percentage of revenue was in contrast to an increase in SG&A expense from 2004 to 2005 totaling 
approximately $1.9 million. The increase in SG&A in 2005 as compared to 2004 was primarily due to additional recruiting costs incurred 
of approximately $2.3 million to respond to the increase in demand for the Company’s staffing services, and approximately $0.5 million 
of additional audit fees offset by approximately $0.1 million for the increase in cash surrender value for company-owned life insurance 
policies that had previously not been recorded, and the Company’s continued efforts to control and reduce its SG&A costs in various 
areas as a percentage of revenue.

Operating income was 1.7% of revenue in 2005 as compared to 1.3% of revenue in 2004. The Company’s operating income as a percent-
age of revenue generally increased throughout 2005 primarily as certain transition costs associated with the significant amount of staffing 
business added during the first quarter of 2005, which totaled approximately 700 of the total 1,000 billable staff added during 2005 ended. 
Operating income from North American operations was $3.0 million in 2005 as compared to $2.3 million in 2004, while European operations 
recorded operating income of $1.9 million in 2005 and $0.8 million in 2004.

Interest and other expense, net was 0.5% of revenue in 2005 and 0.3% in 2004. The increase as a percentage of revenue from 2004 to 
2005 was primarily due to an increase in the average outstanding debt during 2005 as the Company utilized its revolving line of credit to 
fund higher accounts receivable during 2005 resulting from the additional billable staff added during the year. Additionally, there were higher 
interest rates in 2005 on the Company’s revolving debt, and the Company realized a loss of approximately $0.1 million for the settlement 
of inter-company transactions with the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

The estimated effective tax rate (ETR) resulted from the provision for income taxes from continuing operations was 31.8% in 2005. The 
ETR is calculated quarterly based upon current assumptions relating to the full years estimated operating results, and various tax related 
items. The ETR rate in 2005 was reduced primarily due to several items that created net tax benefits totaling approximately $0.3 million. The 
Company released a net amount of approximately $0.1 million from its tax reserves primarily due to a change in judgment and settlement 
of open items, and also reduced a valuation allowance for its net operating loss for Canada by approximately $0.2 million. Without the 
aggregate tax benefit for all of these items totaling approximately $0.3 million, the Company’s ETR in 2005 would be approximately 40.1%. 
In 2004, the ETR was a benefit of (22.6)%. During 2004, the ETR was reduced by approximately $0.6 million for a release of reserve due to a 
change in judgment resulting from legislation enacted in The Netherlands, the reversal of approximately $0.5 million of valuation allowances 
offsetting deferred tax assets related to the Company’s European and Canadian operations, $0.4 million for state tax net operating loss tax 
benefits that had previously been offset by a valuation allowance, and a net amount of approximately $0.2 million from the release of other 
deferred tax items. Without these items, the ETR in 2004 would have been approximately 48.0%.
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Financial Condition and Liquidity
Cash provided by operating activities was $28.8 million in 2006. Net income from continuing operations was $3.5 million, while other 
non-cash adjustments, primarily consisting of depreciation expense, equity-based compensation, deferred income taxes, and deferred 
compensation totaled $3.7 million. The accounts receivable balance decreased $21.1 million as compared to December 31, 2005 primarily 
due to the Company entering into a cash discount advance payment program with a significant customer. Accordingly, the decrease in the 
timing of the collection of outstanding invoices resulted in a decrease in days sales outstanding to 63 days at December 31, 2006 from 85 
days at December 31, 2005. Prepaid and other assets increased $0.6 million due to the purchase of certain items prior to year-end, while 
other assets increased $0.5 million primarily due to the increase in cash surrender value of Company-owned life insurance policies and 
the additional funding provided for the NDBP. Income taxes payable, net, increased $0.3 million primarily due to the timing and amount of 
payments in 2006 as compared to 2006 tax expense. Advance billings on contracts increased $0.7 million due to the timing of billings on 
customer accounts near the end of 2006. 

Investing activities used $1.8 million in 2006, which primarily represented the additions to property and equipment. The Company has no 
significant commitments for the purchase of property or equipment at December 31, 2006. 

Financing activities used $24.9 million of cash in 2006. For 2006, payments on the Company’s revolving credit line totaled $23.2 million. The 
Company is required to meet certain financial covenants in order to maintain borrowings under the Agreement, pay dividends, and make 
acquisitions. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2006. The Company borrows or repays its revolving 
debt as needed based upon its working capital obligations, including the timing of the U.S. bi-weekly payroll. Daily average borrowings for 
2006 were $6.6 million. 

During 2006, the Company used $2.2 million to purchase approximately 0.5 million shares of its stock for treasury. At December 31, 2006, 
approximately 0.7 million shares have been repurchased in total under the current authorization, leaving 0.3 million shares authorized for 
future purchases.

At December 31, 2006, consolidated shareholders’ equity totaled $61.6 million, an increase of $4.1 million from the December 31, 2005 
total of $57.5 million. The increase was primarily due to net income in 2006 of $3.5 million, a foreign currency adjustment of $1.2 million, 
shares released from the stock trusts valued at $1.4 million, offset by the $2.2 million spent to purchase approximately 0.5 million shares 
of the Company’s stock for treasury. 

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company determined that it owned but had previously not recorded marketable securities that were 
issued to the Company in 2001 resulting from the demutualization of an insurance company. During the late 1990’s and early 2000’s, CTG 
purchased medical benefits for its employees from this company through a broker. The company converted from a mutual to a public 
company in late 2001, and CTG was to receive shares in the new, publicly traded entity. However, due to an error on the part of the issuing 
company, CTG did not receive notification of the ownership of such shares until late March 2006. 

CTG has determined that an asset of approximately $0.2 million, an increase to retained earnings of $0.1 million, net of tax, and an 
increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss of approximately $0.1 million, net of tax should have been recorded at December 
31, 2003. The Company has recorded this asset and adjustments as of December 31, 2003, and has subsequently accounted for 
this investment as an available-for-sale security in succeeding years. The investment, deferred income taxes, retained earnings, and 
accumulated other comprehensive loss balances as displayed on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets in this report for the 
periods ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 reflect the accounting for this investment as if it had been recorded in 2003, as 
well as the current valuation of the investment on those dates (see note 4, “Investments”). 

At December 31, 2006, the Company has restricted use to approximately $0.3 million of its cash and cash equivalents as the funds are 
held as a guarantee by a financial institution for leased office space. 

The Company believes existing internally available funds, cash potentially generated from operations, and available borrowings under the 
Company’s revolving line of credit totaling approximately $34.6 million at December 31, 2006, will be sufficient to meet foreseeable working 
capital, capital expenditure, and stock repurchase requirements, and to allow for future internal growth and expansion. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company did not have off-balance sheet arrangements or transactions in either 2006 or 2005.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
The Company’s primary market risk exposures consist of interest rate risk associated with variable rate borrowings and foreign currency 
exchange risk associated with the Company’s European operations. 

On April 20, 2005, the Company entered into a new revolving credit agreement which allows the Company to borrow up to $35 million 
based upon available collateral. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were $0 and $23.2 million outstanding, respectively, under this 
agreement. Additionally, at December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, outstanding under letters 
of credit under this agreement. 

Income Taxes – Deferred Taxes and Valuation Allowances – At December 31, 2006, the Company had a total of approximately 
$6.2 million of current and non-current net deferred tax assets recorded on its balance sheet. The changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities from period to period are determined based upon the changes in differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the basis of assets and liabilities for tax purposes, as measured by the enacted tax rates when these 
differences are estimated to reverse. The Company has made certain assumptions regarding the timing of the reversal of these assets 
and liabilities, and whether taxable income in future periods will be sufficient to recognize all or a part of any gross deferred tax asset 
of the Company.

At December 31, 2006, the Company has deferred tax assets recorded resulting from net operating losses. This includes assets result-
ing from net operating losses in various states totaling approximately $0.4 million, in The Netherlands of approximately $2.4 million, and 
approximately $0.3 million in various other countries. Management of the Company has analyzed each jurisdiction’s tax position, including 
forecasting potential taxable income in future periods, and the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards as applicable, and deter-
mined that it is unclear whether all of these deferred tax assets will be realized at any point in the future. Accordingly, at December 31, 2006, 
the Company has offset a portion of these assets with a valuation allowance totaling $2.8 million, resulting in a net deferred tax asset from 
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $0.3 million. 

During 2006 the valuation allowance was increased by approximately $0.2 million, net primarily due to a variety of factors including foreign 
currency and tax rate changes in The Netherlands of approximately $0.1 million and $0.1 million related to the establishment of a Canadian 
valuation allowance due to a change in estimate. In 2005, The Netherlands tax authorities settled an audit of the Company’s Netherlands 
foreign subsidiary’s 2001 income tax return. A resulting decrease in The Netherlands company’s net operating loss carry forward of $0.9 
million, with a corresponding decrease in the valuation allowance for this deferred tax asset, was primarily due to the disallowance of interest 
expense on an intercompany loan with its U.S. parent under thin capitalization rules recently affirmed by The Netherlands court system. 

The Company’s deferred tax assets and their potential realizability are evaluated each quarter to determine if any changes should be 
made to the valuation allowance. Any additional change in the valuation allowance in the future could result in a change in the Company’s 
ETR. The increase in the valuation allowance of approximately $0.1 million for the Company’s Canadian operations increased the ETR by 
approximately 2.2%. An additional 1% increase in the ETR would have reduced net income in 2006 by approximately $61,000.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans – Discount Rates and Expected Return on Plan Assets – The Company maintains a non-qualified 
defined-benefit Executive Supplemental Benefit Plan (ESBP) that provides one current and certain former key executives with deferred 
compensation benefits, based on years of service and base compensation, payable during retirement. The plan was amended as of 
November 30, 1994, to freeze benefits for participants at that time. The Company also retained a contributory defined-benefit plan for its 
previous employees located in The Netherlands (NDBP) when the Company disposed of its subsidiary, CTG Nederland, B.V., in the first 
quarter of 2004. Benefits paid under the NDBP are a function of a percentage of career average pay. The NDBP was curtailed for additional 
contributions in January 2003. 

For the ESBP, the discount rate used in 2006 to calculate the benefit obligation was 5.8%, which is reflective of a series of bonds that 
are included in the Moody’s Aa long-term corporate bond yield. The Company selected this rate as it anticipates making payments to 
participants under the ESBP for 20-30 years in the future, and this rate is reflective of specific bonds within the Moody’s Aa index that 
cover that time period. This rate was an increase of 20 basis points from the rate used in the prior year to calculate the benefit obligation. 
For 2006, the Company made payments totaling approximately $0.7 million to participants. There is no salary increase rate assumption 
for the plan as it is frozen for additional benefits, and the plan is deemed to be unfunded as the Company has not specifically set aside 
assets to be used to discharge the deferred compensation benefit liability. Payments to participants under the ESBP are funded by the 
Company as needed.

For the NDBP, the discount rate used in 2006 to calculate the benefit obligation was 4.6%, which is reflective of the current return on 
long-term corporate bonds that have a remaining life of greater than 10 years which corresponds to the remaining average life of the 
plan. This rate was an increase of 50 basis points from the rate used in the prior year to calculate the benefit obligation. There is no salary 
increase rate assumption for the plan as it is frozen for additional benefits. During 2006, the Company made a contribution of approxi-
mately $0.2 million to fund the NDBP. The expected return on plan assets for 2006 was approximately $0.3 million. The assets in the 
NDBP are 20% invested in the Aegon World Equity Fund. This fund invests in global equities, with a small portion of the fund in new or 
emerging economies. The remaining 80% of the assets are invested as determined by Aegon with no direction from the Company, with 
a guaranteed minimum return to the Company of 4%. The Company’s investments were allocated as indicated above in 2004, 2005 and 
2006, and the Company does not anticipate changing these allocation percentages going forward. The expected return on plan assets 
for 2006 was a function of the average historical return of 4.5% on the 80% of the funds invested by Aegon, and an estimated return of 
9% on the 20% of the funds invested in the Aegon World Equity Fund. The three year return to the Company on the Aegon World Equity 
Fund was approximately 14.8%. In 2006, the actual return on plan assets approximated the expected return on plan assets. 

The Company has also made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of other assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare the consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such estimates primarily relate to the valuation of stock options for recording equity-based 
compensation expense, allowances for doubtful accounts receivable, investment valuation, legal matters, and estimates of progress 
toward completion and direct profit or loss on contracts, as applicable. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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	 Year ended December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands, except per-share data) 	 	 2006 	 	 2005 	 	 2004

Revenue 	 $	 327,253  	 $	 294,465  	 $	 237,122 

Direct costs 	 	 253,101  	 	 226,663  	 	 173,025 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 	 	 67,298  	 	 62,877  	 	 60,999 

Operating income 	 	 6,854  	 	 4,925  	 	 3,098 

Interest and other income 	 	 204  	 	 101  	 	 103 

Interest and other expense 	 	 (909) 	 	 (1,472) 	 	 (780)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 	 	 6,149  	 	 3,554  	 	 2,421 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 	 	 2,654  	 	 1,131  	 	 (546)

Income from continuing operations 	 	 3,495  	 	 2,423  	 	 2,967 

Loss from discontinued operations (including loss on disposal	
   of $3.9 million) 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (4,411)

Net income (loss) 	 $	 3,495  	 $	 2,423  	 $	 (1,444)

Basic net income (loss) per share:

   Continuing operations 	 $	 0.21  	 $	 0.14  	 $	 0.18 

   Discontinued operations 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (0.27)

   Basic net income (loss) per share 	 $	 0.21  	 $	 0.14  	 $	 (0.09)

Diluted net income (loss) per share:

   Continuing operations 	 $	 0.21  	 $	 0.14  	 $	 0.17 

   Discontinued operations 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (0.25)

   Diluted net income (loss) per share 	 $	 0.21  	 $	 0.14  	 $	 (0.08)

The maximum amounts outstanding under the Company’s revolving credit agreements during 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $23.9 million, 
$29.4 million, and $14.7 million, respectively. Average bank borrowings outstanding for the years 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $6.6 million, 
$17.3 million, and $8.6 million, respectively, and carried weighted-average interest rates of 7.8%, 6.0%, and 3.5%, respectively. Accordingly, 
during 2006 a one percent increase in the weighted-average interest rate would have cost the Company an additional $66,000. The 
Company incurred commitment fees totaling approximately $0.1 million in each of 2006, 2005 and 2004 relative to the agreements.

During 2006, there was a nominal effect on revenue for year-over-year foreign currency exchange rate changes of Belgium, the United Kingdom, 
and Luxembourg, the countries in which the Company’s European subsidiaries operate. In Belgium and Luxembourg, the functional currency 
is the Euro, while in the United Kingdom, the functional currency is the British pound. Had there been no change in these exchange rates from 
2005 to 2006, total European revenue would have been approximately $0.5 million lower, or $58.4 million in total in Europe as compared to 
the $58.9 million reported in 2006. Operating income in Europe was not significantly affected by year-over-year exchange rate changes in these 
countries. The Company has historically not used any market risk sensitive instruments to hedge its foreign currency exchange risk.

Contractual Obligations 
A summary of the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2006 is as follows:

 
(in millions)

	
Total

Less than	
1 year

Years	
2-3

Years	
4-5

More than	
5 years

Long-term debt 	 A 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 –

Capital lease obligations 	 B 	 	 0.0 	 	 0.0 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –

Operating lease obligations 	 C 	 	 15.2 	 	 5.2 	 	 6.9 	 	 1.7 	 	 1.4

Purchase obligations 	 D 	 	 2.0 	 	 1.8 	 	 0.2 	 	 – 	 	 –

Deferred compensation benefits (United States) 	 E 	 	 9.2 	 	 1.1 	 	 1.5 	 	 1.5 	 	 5.1 

Deferred compensation benefits (Europe) 	 F 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –

Other long-term liabilities 	 G 	 	 0.6 	 	 0.2 	 	 0.2 	 	 0.1 	 	 0.1

	 Total 	 $	 27.0 	 $	 8.3 	 $	 8.8 	 $	 3.3 	 $	 6.6

A	 On April 20, 2005, the Company entered into a new revolving credit agreement (Agreement) which allows the Company to borrow up 
to $35 million. This Agreement has a term of three years and expires in April 2008. The Company uses this facility to fund its working 
capital obligations as needed, primarily including funding the U.S. bi-weekly payroll. 

	 The Company currently has two outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $0.4 million that collateralize an office lease and an 
employee benefit program.

B	 The Company has one capital lease totaling less than $50,000, and is not committed to enter any other capital lease obligations at 
this time.

C	 Operating lease obligations relate to the rental of office space, office equipment, and automobiles leased in the Company’s European 
operations. Total rental expense under operating leases in 2006, 2005, and 2004 was approximately $6.3 million, $6.3 million, and $7.4 
million, respectively.

D	 The Company is currently obligated for purchase obligations in 2007 to spend approximately $1.8 million, including $0.7 million for software 
maintenance and support fees, $0.2 million for computer-based training courses, $0.8 million for telecommunications, and $0.1 million for 
equipment. In both 2008 and 2009, the Company’s total purchase obligation for similar services totals $0.1 million in each year.

E	 The Company is committed for deferred compensation benefits in the United States under two plans. The Executive Supplemental 
Benefit Plan (ESBP) provides one current and certain former key executives with deferred compensation benefits. The ESBP was 
amended as of November 30, 1994 to freeze benefits for participants at that time. Currently, 13 individuals are receiving benefits under 
this plan. The ESBP is deemed to be unfunded as the Company has not specifically identified Company assets to be used to discharge 
the deferred compensation benefit liabilities.

	 The Company also has a non-qualified defined-contribution deferred compensation plan for certain key executives. Contributions to this 
plan in 2006 were $0.2 million. The Company anticipates making contributions totaling approximately $0.4 million in 2007 to this plan 
for amounts earned in 2006.

F	 The Company retained a contributory defined-benefit plan for its previous employees located in The Netherlands when the Company 
disposed of its subsidiary, CTG Nederland B.V., in the first quarter of 2004. This plan was curtailed on January 1, 2003 for additional 
contributions. As this plan is fully funded at December 31, 2006, the Company does not anticipate making significant additional pay-
ments to fund the Plan in future years.

G	 The Company has other long-term liabilities including payments for a postretirement benefit plan and payments for taxes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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	 Year ended December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands) 	 	 2006 	 	 2005 	 	 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) 	 $	 3,495  	 $	 2,423  	 $	 (1,444)

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (4,411)

Income from continuing operations 	 	 3,495  	 	 2,423  	 	 2,967 

Adjustments:

	 Depreciation expense 	 	 2,596  	 	 2,662  	 	 2,625 

	 Equity-based compensation expense 	 	 856  	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Deferred income taxes 	 	 316  	 	 (521) 	 	 (238)

	 Tax benefit on stock option exercises 	 	 –  	 	 31  	 	 18 

	 Loss on sales of property and equipment 	 	 6  	 	 23  	 	 31 

	 Deferred compensation 	 	 (27) 	 	 117  	 	 (95) 

	 Changes in assets and liabilities: 

	 	 (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable   	 	 21,076  	 	 (26,555) 	 	 (5,613)

	 	 (Increase) decrease in prepaids and other 	 	 (640) 	 	 33  	 	 345 

 	 	 (Increase) decrease in other assets 	 	 (481) 	 	 (7) 	 	 75 

	 	 Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 	 	 243  	 	 (794) 	 	 675 

	 	 Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation 	 	 404  	 	 5,917  	 	 (2,687)

	 	 Increase (decrease) in advance billings on contracts 	 	 722  	 	 (609) 	 	 628 

	 	 Increase in other current liabilities 	 	 196  	 	 7  	 	 755 

	 	 Increase in income taxes payable, net 	 	 314  	 	 374  	 	 1,013 

	 	 Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities 	 	 (288) 	 	 704  	 	 (70)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 	 	 28,788  	 	 (16,195) 	 	 429 

Cash flows from investing activities:

	 Additions to property and equipment 	 	 (1,830) 	 	 (3,422) 	 	 (1,841)

	 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 	 	 6  	 	 92  	 	 15 

Net cash used in investing activities 	 	 (1,824) 	 	 (3,330) 	 	 (1,826)

Cash flows from financing activities:

	 Proceeds from (payments on) long-term revolving debt, net 	 	 (23,150) 	 	 18,500  	 	 4,650 

	 Change in cash overdraft, net 	 	 (387) 	 	 1,165  	 	 (2,094)

	 Debt refinancing costs 	 	 –  	 	 (507) 	 	 – 

	 Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan 	 	 147  	 	 144  	 	 162 

	 Purchase of stock for treasury 	 	 (2,185) 	 	 (1,395) 	 	 – 

	 Proceeds from other stock plans 	 	 514  	 	 228  	 	 160 

	 Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensation 	 	 114  	 	 –  	 	 – 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 	 	 (24,947) 	 	 18,135  	 	 2,878 

Cash flows from discontinued operations: 	
(revised - See note 1 for “Statement of Cash Flows”)

	 Cash used in operating activities 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (2,308)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 	 	 493  	 	 (551) 	 	 252 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 	 	 2,510  	 	 (1,941) 	 	 (575)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 	 	 2,248  	 	 4,189  	 	 4,764 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 	 $	 4,758  	 $	 2,248  	 $	 4,189 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

	 December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands, except share balances) 	 	 2006 	 	 2005

Assets 

Current Assets: 

	 Cash and cash equivalents 	 $	 4,758  	 $	 2,248 

 	 Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $866 and $1,087	
	 	 in 2006 and 2005, respectively 	 	 52,544 	 	 71,940

 	 Prepaids and other 	 	 2,704  	 	 1,978 

 	 Deferred income taxes 	 	 1,185  	 	 1,725 

 	 Investments 	 	 813  	 	 – 

   		 	 Total current assets 	 	 62,004  	 	 77,891 

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of	
	 $26,685 and $25,377 in 2006 and 2005, respectively 	 	 5,918  	 	 6,616 

Goodwill 	 	 35,678  	 	 35,678 

Deferred income taxes 	 	 4,990  	 	 4,727 

Other assets 	 	 2,679  	 	 2,118 

Investments 	 	 448  	 	 1,270 

	 	 Total assets 	 $	 111,717  	 $	 128,300 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 

Current Liabilities:

 	 Accounts payable 	 $	 9,561  	 $	 9,277 

 	 Accrued compensation 	 	 23,162  	 	 22,153 

 	 Advance billings on contracts 	 	 2,047  	 	 1,312 

 	 Other current liabilities 	 	 5,125  	 	 4,773 

 	 Income taxes payable 	 	 455  	 	 70 

   		 	 Total current liabilities 	 	 40,350  	 	 37,585 

Long-term debt 	 	 –  	 	 23,150 

Deferred compensation benefits 	 	 8,792  	 	 8,842 

Other long-term liabilities 	 	 944  	 	 1,232 

	 	 Total liabilities 	 	 50,086  	 	 70,809 

Shareholders’ Equity:

 	 Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 150,000,000	
	 	 shares authorized; 27,017,824 shares issued 	 	 270  	 	 270 

 	 Capital in excess of par value 	 	 111,458  	 	 111,172 

 	 Retained earnings 	 	 45,235  	 	 41,740 

 	 Less: Treasury stock of 7,019,643 and 6,525,890 shares at cost, respectively 	 	 (35,005) 	 	 (32,811)

   		 	   Stock Trusts of 3,622,560 and 3,939,664 shares at cost, respectively 	 	 (56,189) 	 	 (57,542)

 	 Accumulated other comprehensive loss 	 	 (4,138) 	 	 (5,338)

   		 	 Total shareholders’ equity 	 	 61,631  	 	 57,491 

   		 	 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 	 $	 111,717  	 $	 128,300 
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Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders’ Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(amounts in thousands)

	
Common Stock	

Shares          Amount
Capital in Excess	

of Par Value
Retained Earnings	

(see note 2)

Balance as of December 31, 2003 27,018 	 $	 270 	 $	 111,333  	 $	 40,761 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (14) 	 	 – 

Stock Option Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (47) 	 	 – 

Comprehensive income (loss):

	 Net loss 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (1,444)

	 Foreign currency adjustment 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 	 Total comprehensive income (loss) 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (1,444)

Balance as of December 31, 2004 27,018 	 	 270 	 	 111,272  	 	 39,317 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (23) 	 	 – 

Stock Option Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (77) 	 	 – 

Purchase of stock 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

Comprehensive income (loss):  

	 Net income 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 2,423 

	 Foreign currency adjustment 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 	 Total comprehensive income (loss) 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 2,423 

Balance as of December 31, 2005 27,018 	 	 270 	 	 111,172  	 	 41,740 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (2) 	 	 – 

Stock Option Plan share issuance 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (274) 	 	 – 

Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensation 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 113 	 	 –

Restricted stock issuance/forfeiture 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (407) 	 	 – 

Purchase of stock 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

Equity-based compensation 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 856  	 	 – 

Pension loss adjustment, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –

Comprehensive income (loss):

	 Net income 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 3,495

	 Foreign currency adjustment 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 Unrealized loss on investments, net of tax 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 

	 	 Total comprehensive income 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 3,495 

Balance as of December 31, 2006 27,018 	 $	 270 	 $	 111,458  	 $	 45,235

Treasury Stock	
Shares          Amount

Stock Trusts	
Shares          Amount

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive  Loss	

(see note 2) 

Total	
Shareholders’ Equity

6,149  	 $	(31,416) 4,152  	 $	(58,446) 	 $	 (5,931) 	 $	 56,571 

–  	 	 –  (41) 	 	 176  	 	 –  	 	 162 

–  	 	 –  (53) 	 	 225  	 	 –  	 	 178 

     

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (1,444)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 1,635  	 	 1,635 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 (178) 	 	 (178)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 125  	 	 125 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 1,582  	 	 138 

6,149  	 	 (31,416) 4,058 	 	 (58,045) 	 	 (4,349) 	 	 57,049 

–  	 	 –  (39) 	 	 167  	 	 –  	 	 144 

–  	 	 –  (79) 	 	 336  	 	 –  	 	 259 

377  	 	 (1,395) –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (1,395)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 2,423 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 (1,016) 	 	 (1,016)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 (110) 	 	 (110)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 137  	 	 137 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 –  	 	 (989) 	 	 1,434 

6,526  	 	 (32,811) 3,940 	 	 (57,542) 	 	 (5,338) 	 	 57,491 

–  	 	 –  (35) 	 	 149  	 	 –  	 	 147 

–  	 	 –  (185) 	 	 788  	 	 –  	 	 514 

–  	 	 –               – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 113

2  	 	 (9)  (97) 	 	 416  	 	 –  	 	 – 

492  	 	 (2,185) –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (2,185)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 856 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 (151) 	 	 (151)

 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 3,495 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 1,183  	 	 1,183 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 174  	 	 174 

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 (6) 	 	 (6)

–  	 	 –  –  	 	 – 	 	 1,351  	 	 4,846 

7,020  	 $	(35,005) 3,623  	 $	(56,189) 	 $	 (4,138) 	 $	 61,631 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Computer Task Group, Incorporated, and its subsidiaries (the 
Company or CTG), located primarily in North America and Europe. 
There are no unconsolidated entities, or off balance sheet arrange-
ments. All inter-company accounts and transactions have been 
eliminated. Certain amounts in the prior years’ consolidated finan-
cial statements and notes have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation. Management of the Company has made 
a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting 
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
Such estimates primarily relate to the valuation of goodwill, valu-
ation allowances for deferred tax assets, actuarial assumptions, 
discount rates and expected rates of return, as applicable, for the 
Company’s defined benefit and postretirement benefit plans, the 
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, assumptions underly-
ing stock option valuation, investment valuation, legal matters, and 
estimates of progress toward completion and direct profit or loss 
on contracts. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

The Company operates in one industry segment, providing IT 
staffing solutions services to its clients. These services include IT 
Staffing and IT Solutions. CTG provides these primary services to 
all of the markets that it serves. The services provided typically 
encompass the IT business solution life cycle, including phases 
for planning, developing, implementing, managing, and ultimately 
maintaining the IT solution. A typical customer is an organization 
with large, complex information and data processing requirements. 
The Company promotes a significant portion of its services through 
three vertical market focus areas: Technology Service Providers, 
Healthcare (which includes services provided to health care provid-
ers, health insurers, and life sciences companies) and Financial 
Services. The Company focuses on these three vertical areas as 
it believes that these areas are either higher growth markets than 
the general IT services market and the general economy, or are 
areas that provide greater potential for the Company’s growth due 
to the size of the vertical market. The vertical areas of Technology 
Service Providers, Healthcare, and Financial Services totaled 41%, 
24%, and 10% of total consolidated revenue in 2006; 41%, 24%, 
and 8% of total consolidated revenue in 2005; and 28%, 28%, and 
13% of total consolidated revenue in 2004, respectively.

Revenue and Cost Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of 
an arrangement exists, when the services have been rendered, 
when the price is determinable, and when collectibility of the 
amounts due is reasonably assured. For time-and-material 
contracts revenue is recognized as hours are incurred and costs 
are expended. Revenue from time-and-material projects totaled 

approximately 90%, 92% and 89% of 2006, 2005, and 2004 
consolidated revenue, respectively. 

For contracts with periodic billing schedules, primarily monthly, 
revenue is recognized as services are rendered to the customer. 
Revenue from such projects totaled approximately 6%, 5%, and 
7% of 2006, 2005, and 2004 consolidated revenue, respectively.

Revenue for fixed price contracts is recognized as per the pro-
portional method of accounting using an input-based approach 
whereby salary and indirect labor costs incurred are measured and 
compared to the total estimate of costs at completion for a project. 
Revenue is recognized based upon the percent complete calculation 
of total incurred costs to total estimated costs. The Company infre-
quently works on fixed price projects that include significant amounts 
of material or other non-labor related costs which could distort the 
percent complete within a percentage complete calculation. The 
Company’s estimate of the total labor costs it expects to incur over 
the term of the contract is based on the nature of the project and 
our past experience on similar projects, and includes management 
judgments and estimates which affect the amount of revenue rec-
ognized on fixed price contracts in any accounting period. Revenue 
from fixed-price contracts accounted for under the percentage-of-
completion method totaled approximately 4%, 3%, and 4% of 2006, 
2005 and 2004 consolidated revenue, respectively. 

As required, the Company includes billable expenses in its 
accounts as both revenue and direct costs. These billable 
expenses totaled $9.4 million, $9.2 million, and $8.3 million in 
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Bad debt expense (benefit) in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was approxi-
mately $0, $(0.1) million, and $0.4 million, respectively. 

Selling, general, and administrative costs are charged to expense 
as incurred. 

Restricted Cash
At December 31, 2006, the Company has restricted use to approxi-
mately $0.3 million of its cash and cash equivalents as the funds are 
held as a guarantee by a financial institution for leased office space. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the amount at 
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the 
carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which 
include cash and cash equivalents ($4.8 million and $2.2 million, 
respectively), accounts receivable, net ($52.5 million and $71.9 
million, respectively), accounts payable ($9.6 million and $9.3 
million, respectively), and the current and non-current portions of 
long-term debt ($0 and $23.2 million, respectively), approximate 
fair value. The value of the Company’s investments ($1.3 million in 
both years) equals fair value (see note 4, “Investments”).

Investments
The Company’s investments consist of publicly traded equity 
securities (Equities) and mutual funds. The Equities are classified 
as available-for-sale securities and are recorded in the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets at fair value based upon market 
quotes. Unrealized gains and losses on these Equities are record-
ed in shareholders’ equity as a separate component of accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. The mutual funds 
are assets allocated to the Computer Task Group, Incorporated 
Non-qualified Key Employee Deferred Compensation Plan. The 
mutual funds are classified as trading securities and are recorded 
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets at fair value based 
upon market quotes. Unrealized gains and losses on these 
securities are recorded in earnings, and were nominal in 2006, 
2005 and 2004. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are generally stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of one 
year to 30 years, and begins after an asset has been put into 
service. The cost of property or equipment sold or otherwise 
disposed of, along with related accumulated depreciation, is 
eliminated from the accounts, and the resulting gain or loss, if 
any, is reflected in current earnings. Maintenance and repairs are 
charged to expense when incurred, while significant betterments 
to existing assets are capitalized.

Leases
The Company is obligated under a number of long-term operating 
leases primarily for the rental of office space, office equipment, and 
automobiles based in Europe. In instances where the Company 
has negotiated leases that contain rent holidays or escalation 
clauses, the expense for those leases is recognized monthly on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease. 

Goodwill 
Under FAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the 
Company is required to test our goodwill for impairment at 
least annually. During 2006, the Company changed its annual 
impairment test date from January 1 (effective valuation date of 
December 31) to the end of its October fiscal month-end. The 
Company believes its October fiscal month-end is preferable as 
it provides additional time prior to the Company’s year-end of 
December 31 to complete the impairment testing and report the 
results of those tests in its annual filing on Form 10-K.  

As of December 31, 2006 or 2005, the Company does not 
have any intangible assets other than goodwill recorded on its 
consolidated balance sheets. At our respective measurements 
dates for 2006, 2005, and 2004, with the assistance of an inde-
pendent appraisal company, the Company completed its annual 
valuation of the business unit to which the Company’s goodwill 
relates. These valuations, as applicable, are based on estimates 
and assumptions that may analyze the appraised value of similar 
transactions from which the goodwill arose, the appraised value 
of similar companies, or estimates of future discounted cash 

flows. The valuations indicated that the estimated fair value of 
the business unit exceeded the carrying value of this unit in 
each period. Additionally, there are no facts or circumstances 
that arose during 2006, 2005 or 2004 that led management to 
believe the goodwill was impaired. Accordingly, the Company 
believes no goodwill impairment is required to be recorded in its 
consolidated financial results. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets 
to Be Disposed Of
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
an asset may not be recoverable. The recoverability of assets to 
be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of an asset to future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which 
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the 
assets. Assets to be disposed of by sale are reported at the lower 
of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. 

Income Taxes 
The Company provides for deferred income taxes for the tem-
porary differences between the financial reporting basis and the 
tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities. In assessing 
the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers 
within each tax jurisdiction, whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning 
strategies in making this assessment. Tax credits, if any, are 
accounted for as a reduction of the income tax provision in the 
year in which they are realized. 

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the tax expense associ-
ated with the pension loss adjustment, net was $0.1 million. For 
both of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the tax 
expense associated with the minimum pension liability adjustment 
was $0.1 million.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation
On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of 
FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (FAS 123R) and related 
interpretations on a modified prospective basis, which required 
the Company to record equity-based compensation expense for 
all awards granted after the date of adoption and for the unvested 
portion of previously granted awards outstanding as of the date 
of adoption. With the adoption of the standard, the calculated fair 
value cost of its equity-based compensation awards are recog-
nized in the Company’s income statement over the period in which 
an employee or director is required to provide the services for the 
award. Compensation cost is not recognized for employees or 
directors that do not render the requisite services. The Company 
recognized the expense for equity-based compensation in its 
2006 statement of operations on a straight-line basis based upon 
awards that are ultimately expected to vest. See note 12, “Stock 
Option Plans.” 
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Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (EPS) for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 are as follows: 

	 For the year ended
	 (amounts in thousands, except per-share data) Net Income (Loss)

Weighted	
Average Shares

Earnings (Loss)	
per Share

December 31, 2006
Basic EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 3,495  	 16,417  	 $	 0.21 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 – 
	 	 	
	 16,417  	 	 – 

Net income 	 $	 3,495  	 16,417  	 $	 0.21 

Diluted EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 3,495  	 16,745  	 $	 0.21 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 – 
	 	 	
	 16,745  	 	 – 

Net income 	 $	 3,495  	 16,745  	 $	 0.21 

December 31, 2005
Basic EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 2,423  	 16,735  	 $	 0.14 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 – 
	 	 	
	 16,735  	 	 – 

Net income 	 $	 2,423  	 16,735  	 $	 0.14 

Diluted EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 2,423  	 17,066  	 $	 0.14 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 – 
	 	 	
	 17,066  	 	 – 

Net income 	 $	 2,423  	 17,066  	 $	 0.14 

December 31, 2004
Basic EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 2,967  	 16,761  	 $	 0.18 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 (4,411)
	 	 	
	 16,761  	 	 (0.27)

Net loss 	 $	 (1,444) 	 16,761  	 $	 (0.09)

Diluted EPS

Income from continuing operations 	 $	 2,967  	 17,140  	 $	 0.17 

Loss from discontinued operations 	 	 (4,411)
	 	 	
	 17,140  	 	 (0.25)

Net loss 	 $	 (1,444) 	 17,140  	 $	 (0.08)

Weighted-average shares represent the average of issued shares, less treasury shares, shares held in the Stock Trusts, and for the basic 
EPS calculation, unvested restricted stock. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options was 328,000, 331,000, 
and 379,000 weighted-average shares, respectively. 

Certain options representing 1.8 million, 2.3 million, and 1.8 million shares of common stock were outstanding at December 31, 2006, 
2005, and 2004, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, as the options’ exercise price was 
greater than the average market price of the Company’s common shares.

On November 16, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the acceleration of the vesting of all unvested out-of-the-money 
stock options previously awarded to its employees, including its executive officers and its directors under the Company’s equity compensa-
tion plans having an exercise price greater than $3.48, which was the closing price of the Company’s common stock on that date. Options 
to purchase approximately 1.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock became exercisable immediately. The weighted-average 
exercise price of the options subject to the acceleration was $4.69. 

The purpose of the acceleration was to enable the Company to eliminate future compensation expense the Company would otherwise 
recognize in its statements of operations with respect to these accelerated options upon the adoption of FAS 123R. The Board of 
Directors took the action in the belief that it is in the best interest of the shareholders to minimize future compensation expense associ-
ated with stock options upon adoption of FAS 123R. The estimate of the maximum future compensation expense that would have 
been recorded in the Company’s statements of operations had the vesting of these options not been accelerated was approximately 
$1.4 million.

The following table details the effect on net income (loss) and basic and diluted net income (loss) per share as if the Company had adopted 
the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123R as they apply to stock-based employee compensation for all periods presented:

(amounts in thousands, except per-share data) 2006 2005 2004

Net income (loss), as reported for the prior periods (a) 	 	 N/A  	 $	 2,423  	 $	 (1,444)

Stock-based employee compensation expense     	 $	 856  	 $	 3,288  	 $	 1,280 

Tax benefit 	 	 (260) 	 	 (786) 	 	 (198)

Stock based compensation, net of tax (b) 	 $	 596  	 $	 2,502  	 $	 1,082 

Net income (loss), including stock-based compensation (a) 	 $	 3,495  	 $	 (79) 	 $	 (2,526)

Basic net income (loss) per share, as reported for the prior periods (a)         	 	 N/A 	 $	 0.14 	 $	 (0.09)

Basic net income (loss) per share, including the effect of stock-based 
compensation expense (b) 	 $	 0.21 	 $	 (0.00) 	 $	 (0.15)

Diluted net income (loss) per share, as reported for the prior periods (a) 	 	 N/A 	 $	 0.14 	 $	 (0.08)

Diluted net income (loss) per share, including the effect of stock-based 
compensation expense (b) 	 $	 0.21 	 $	 (0.00) 	 $	 (0.15)

(a)	 Net income (loss), net income (loss) including stock-based compensation, and basic and diluted net income  (loss) per share prior to January 1, 2006 did not include stock-based com-
pensation expense as the Company continued to apply the recognition and expensing provisions of APB No. 25. 

(b)	 Prior to January 1, 2006, stock-based compensation was only reported on a pro forma basis in the Company’s footnotes.
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At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s available-for-sale 
investments are summarized as follows:

	 December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005

Equity securities – cost 	 $	 198  	 $	 198 

Unrealized gains 	 	 615  	 	 625 

Equity securities – fair value 	 $	 813  	 $	 823 

There were no available-for-sale investments owned by the 
Company at either December 31, 2005 or 2006 that had an 
unrealized loss. The available-for-sale securities were classed as 
non-current assets at December 31, 2005 and as current assets 
at December 31, 2006 as the company sold these assets in the 
first quarter of 2007. The Company did not sell any available-for-
sale assets during 2005 or 2006. At both December 31, 2006 
and 2005, unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments, net 
of tax, was $0.4 million and was included in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss.

5.	Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are 
summarized as follows:

	 December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands)

Useful Life 
(years) 2006 2005

Land 	 – 	 $	 378  	 $	 378 

Buildings 	 30 	 	 4,448  	 	 4,448 

Equipment 	 2-5 	 	 10,825  	 	 10,894 

Furniture 	 5-10 	 	 4,738  	 	 4,510 

Software 	 1-5 	 	 8,974  	 	 8,901 

Leasehold improvements 	 3-10 	 	 3,240  	 	 2,862 

	 	 32,603  	 	 31,993 

Less accumulated depreciation 	 	 (26,685) (25,377)

	 $	 5,918  	 $	 6,616 

6.	Debt 

On April 20, 2005, the Company entered into a revolving credit agree-
ment (Agreement) which allows the Company to borrow up to $35 
million. This Agreement has a term of three years and expires in April 
2008. The Agreement has interest rates ranging from 0 to 75 basis 
points over the prime rate and 150 to 225 basis points over Libor, and 
provides certain of the Company’s assets as security for outstand-
ing borrowings. The Company is required to meet certain financial 
covenants in order to maintain borrowings under the Agreement, pay 
dividends, and make acquisitions. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, 
the Company was in compliance with these covenants. At December 
31, 2006 and 2005, there were $0 and $23.2 million outstanding, 
respectively, under this Agreement. Additionally, at December 31, 
2006 and 2005, there were $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, 
outstanding under letters of credit under this Agreement. 

The maximum amounts outstanding under the revolving credit 
agreements during 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $23.9 million, $29.4 
million, and $14.7 million, respectively. Average bank borrowings out-
standing for the years 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $6.6 million, $17.3 
million, and $8.6 million, respectively, and carried weighted-average 

interest rates of 7.8%, 6.0%, and 3.5%, respectively. The Company 
incurred commitment fees totaling approximately $0.1 million in each 
of 2006, 2005 and 2004 relative to its credit agreements.

7.	Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for 2006, 2005, and 2004 
consists of the following: 

(amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Domestic and foreign	
	 components of income (loss) 	
	 before income taxes are	
	 as follows:

Domestic 	 $	 4,769  	 $	 2,835  	 $	 2,552 

Foreign 	 	 1,380  	 	 719  	 	 (131)

	 $	 6,149  	 $	 3,554  	 $	 2,421 

The provision (benefit) for	
	 income taxes consists of:

Current tax:

	 U.S. federal 	 $	 1,208  	 $	 924  	 $	 201 

	 Foreign 	 	 922  	 	 532  	 	 (697)

	 U.S. state and local 	 	 208  	 	 196  	 	 188 

	 	 2,338  	 	 1,652  	 	 (308)

Deferred tax:

	 U.S. federal 	 	 (179) 	 	 (613) 	 	 12 

	 Foreign 	 	 353  	 	 172  	 	 330 

	 U.S. state and local 	 	 142  	 	 (80)  	 	 (580)

	 	 316  	 	 (521)  	 	 (238)

	 $	 2,654  	 $	 1,131  	 $	 (546)

The effective and statutory	
	 income tax rate can be	
	 reconciled as follows:

Tax at statutory rate of 34% 	 $	 2,091  	 $	 1,208  	 $	 823 

State tax, net of federal benefits 	 	 180  	 	 99  	 	 102 

Benefit of state net operating	
	 losses previously offset by	
	 valuation allowances 	 	 3  	 	 (29) 	 	 (356)

Non-taxable income 	 	 (687) 	 	 (557) 	 	 (455)

Non-deductible expenses 	 	 934  	 	 712  	 	 600 

Change in beginning of year	
	 temporary differences 	 	 (15) 	 	 –  	 	 (151)

Change in estimate primarily	
	 related to recent tax legislation	
	 enacted in Europe 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 (639)

Change in estimate primarily	
	 related to foreign taxes 	 	 135  	 	 (161) 	 	 – 

Change in estimate primarily	
	 related to state taxes and	
	 tax reserves 	 	 91  	 	 (88) 	 	 – 

Benefit of foreign net operating	
	 losses previously offset by	
	 valuation allowance 	 	 (17) 	 	 (66) 	 	 (524)

Foreign tax rate change 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 47 

Other, net 	 	 (61) 	 	 13  	 	 7 

	 $	 2,654  	 $	 1,131  	 $	 (546)

Effective income tax rate 	 	 43.2% 	 	 31.8% 	 	 (22.6)%

The effective tax rate (ETR) resulting from the provision for income 
taxes from continuing operations was 43.2% in 2006. The ETR is 
calculated quarterly based upon current assumptions relating to 
the full year’s estimated operating results, and various tax related 
items. The ETR in 2006 was increased primarily due to several 
items that increased tax expense by approximately $0.2 million. 

Foreign Currency
The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is 
the applicable local currency. The translation of the applicable 
foreign currencies into U.S. dollars is performed for assets and 
liabilities using current exchange rates in effect at the balance 
sheet date, for equity accounts using historical exchange rates, 
and for revenue and expense activity using the applicable month’s 
average exchange rates. The Company recorded a loss totaling 
approximately $0, $(0.1) million and $0 in 2006, 2005, and 2004, 
respectively, from foreign currency transactions for the settlement 
of intercompany balances. 

Statements of Cash Flows
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are defined as cash on hand; demand deposits; 
and short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity of 
three months or less. Additionally, as the Company does not 
fund its bank accounts for the checks it has written until the 
checks are presented to the bank for payment, the change 
in cash overdraft, net represents the increase or decrease in 
outstanding checks. 

In 2006 and 2005, the Company has separately disclosed the 
operating cash flows from discontinued operations in 2004 (there 
were no cash flows from either investing or financing activities).

Interest paid during 2006, 2005, and 2004 amounted to $0.6 mil-
lion, $1.1 million, and $0.4 million, respectively, while net income 
tax payments (receipts) totaled $1.8 million, $0.7 million, and $(1.5) 
million for the respective years. 

Taxes Collected from Customers 
In instances where the Company collects taxes from its custom-
ers for remittance to government authorities, primarily in its 
European operations, such taxes are recorded and presented on 
a net basis. 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss 
The components that make up accumulated other comprehensive 
loss on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2006, 
2005, and 2004 are as follows:

(amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Foreign currency adjustment 	 $	 (3,038) 	 $	 (4,221) 	 $	 (3,205)

Pension loss adjustment,	
	 net of tax of $950 in 2006 	 	 (1,476) 	 	 –  	 	 –

Unrealized gain on investments,	
	 net of tax of $239 in 2006,	
	 $243 in 2005, and $154 in 2004

	 	 376  	 	 382  	 	 245

Minimum pension liability	
	 adjustment, net of tax of $949	
	 in 2005 and $903 in 2004

	 	 –  	 	 (1,499) 	 	 (1,389)

	 $	 (4,138) 	 $	 (5,338) 	 $	 (4,349)

2.	Adjustment to Shareholders’ Equity as of 
December 31, 2003

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company determined that 
it owned but had previously not recorded marketable securi-
ties that were issued to the Company in 2001 resulting from 
the demutualization of an insurance company. During the late 

1990s and early 2000s, CTG purchased medical benefits for its 
employees from this company through a broker. The company 
converted from a mutual to a public company in late 2001, and 
CTG was to receive shares in the new, publicly traded entity. 
However, due to an error on the part of the issuing company, 
CTG did not receive notification of the ownership of such shares 
until late March 2006.

CTG has determined that an asset of approximately $0.2 million, 
an increase to retained earnings of $0.1 million, net of tax, 
and an increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss of 
approximately $0.1 million, net of tax should have been recorded 
at December 31, 2003.  The Company has recorded this asset 
and adjustments and has subsequently accounted for this 
investment as an available-for-sale security in succeeding years. 
The investment, deferred income taxes, retained earnings, and 
accumulated other comprehensive loss account balances as 
displayed on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for 
the periods ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 reflect 
the accounting for this investment as if it had been recorded in 
2003, as well as the current valuation of the investment on those 
dates (see note 4, “Investments”).

3.	Discontinued Operations 

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company disposed of its 
Dutch operating subsidiary, CTG Nederland B.V. The effective 
date of the disposition was January 1, 2004, and the transac-
tion has been treated as discontinued operations in these 
consolidated financial statements. As part of the transaction, the 
Company retained the assets and liabilities related to the defined-
benefit plan for its previous employees in The Netherlands 
(NDBP). At the time of the disposition, the net assets of the plan 
totaled approximately $0.5 million. The activities of the NDBP 
are discussed in note 9, “Deferred Compensation Benefits.” This 
unit had previously been included in the financial results of the 
Company’s European operations.

The loss from discontinued operations resulting from this divesti-
ture totaled approximately $4.4 million in 2004, with approximately 
$4.3 million of that loss incurred in the first quarter of 2004. The 
loss includes a cumulative loss on disposal of approximately $3.9 
million, and approximately $0.5 million from a foreign currency 
adjustment which had previously been reported as a direct charge 
to shareholders’ equity. All activities related to this subsidiary 
have been removed from the Company’s individual accounts and 
subsequently combined and included on the line entitled “Loss 
from discontinued operations” on the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. 

4.	Investments

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the carrying value of the Company’s 
investments is as follows:

	 December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005

Trading 	 $	 448  	 $	 447 

Available-for-sale 	 	 813  	 	 823 

	 $	 1,261  	 $	1,270 
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In 2006, 2005, and 2004, 185,000, 74,000, and 37,000 shares of 
common stock, respectively, were issued through the exercise of 
non-qualified stock options or through the disqualifying disposition of 
incentive stock options. The tax benefit to the Company from these 
transactions, which is credited to capital in excess of par value rather 
than recognized as a reduction of income tax expense, was $113,000, 
$31,000, and $18,000 in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. These 
tax benefits have also been recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheets as a reduction of current taxes payable.

The Company has established reserves for tax contingencies 
based upon the probable outcome of tax positions taken for 
financial statement purposes compared to positions taken on the 
Company’s tax returns. The Company reviews its tax-contingency 
reserves on a quarterly basis to ensure they are appropriately 
stated. Such reviews include consideration of factors such as the 
cause of the action, the degree of probability of an unfavorable 
outcome, the Company’s ability to estimate the liability, and the 
timing of the liability and how it will impact the Company’s other 
tax attributes. At December 31, 2006, the Company believes it has 
adequately provided for its tax-related liabilities.

8.	Lease Commitments

At December 31, 2006, the Company was obligated under a 
number of long-term operating leases. Minimum future obligations 
under such leases are summarized as follows: 

	 Year ending December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands)

2007 	 $	 5,237

2008 	 	 4,229

2009 	 	 2,701

2010 	 	 1,142

2011 	 	 489

Later years 	 	 1,368

Minimum future obligations 	 $	15,166

The operating lease obligations relate to the rental of office space, 
office equipment, and automobiles leased in Europe. Total rental 
expense under such operating leases for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was 
approximately $6.3 million, $6.3 million, and $7.4 million, respectively. 

9.	Deferred Compensation Benefits

The Company maintains a non-qualified defined-benefit Executive 
Supplemental Benefit Plan (ESBP) that provides one current and 
certain former key executives with deferred compensation benefits, 
based on years of service and base compensation, payable during 
retirement. The plan was amended as of November 30, 1994, to 
freeze benefits for participants at that time.

Net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2006, 
2005, and 2004 for the ESBP is as follows: 

	 Net Periodic Pension Cost	
	 – ESBP
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Interest cost 	 $	 493 	 $	 513 	 $	 532

Amortization of actuarial loss 	 	 118 	 	 108 	 	 87

	 Net periodic pension cost 	 $	 611 	 $	 621 	 $	 619

The Company also retained a contributory defined-benefit plan for 
its previous employees located in The Netherlands (NDBP) when 
the Company disposed of its subsidiary, CTG Nederland, B.V., in 
the first quarter of 2004. Benefits paid are a function of a percent-
age of career average pay. The Plan was curtailed for additional 
contributions in January 2003.

Net periodic pension benefit for the twelve month periods ended 
September 29, 2006, September 30, 2005, and October 1, 2004 
for the NDBP is as follows:

	 Net Periodic Pension Cost	
	 (Benefit) – NDBP
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Interest cost 	 $	 241 	 $	 252  	 $	 232 

Expected return on plan assets 	 	 (301) 	 	 (281) 	 	 (285)

Amortization of actuarial loss 	 	 2  	 	 1  	 	 – 

	 Net periodic pension benefit 	 $	 (58) 	 $	 (28) 	 $	 (53)

The change in benefit obligation and reconciliation of fair value 
of plan assets for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 
2005 for the ESBP, and for the twelve month period ended 
September 29, 2006 and September 30, 2005 for the NDBP 
are as follows:

ESBP NDBP

	 Changes in Benefit	
	 Obligation
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2006 2005

Benefit obligation at	
	 beginning of period 	$	9,159  	$	9,103  	$	5,774  	$	4,869 

Interest cost 	 	 493  	 	 513  	 	 241  	 	 252 

Benefits paid 	 	 (703) 	 	 (698) 	 	 (62) 	 	 (23)

Actuarial (gain) loss 	 	 (166) 	 	 241  	 	 (711) 	 	 250 

Effect of exchange rate	
	 changes 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 290  	 	 426 

Benefit obligation at end	
	 of period 	 	 8,783  	 	 9,159  	 	 5,532  	 	 5,774 

Reconciliation of Fair Value	
	 of Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at	
	 beginning of period 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 5,734  	 	 5,511 

Actual return on plan assets 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 290  	 	 441 

Employer contributions 	 	 703  	 	 698  	 	 197  	 	 – 

Benefits paid 	 	 (703) 	 	 (698) 	 	 (62) 	 	 (23)

Effect of exchange rate	
	 changes 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 319  	 	 (195)

Fair value of plan assets at	
	 end of period 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 6,478  	 	 5,734 

Unfunded (funded) status 	 	 8,783  	 	 9,159  	 	 (946) 	 	 40 

Unrecognized net actuarial	
	 loss 	 	 –  	 	 (2,448) 	 	 –  	 	 (664)

Accrued benefit cost (asset) 	$	8,783  	$	6,711  	$	 (946) 	 	 (624)

Discount rate:

	 Benefit obligation 	 	 5.80% 	 	 5.60% 	 	 4.60% 	 	 4.10%

	 Net periodic pension cost 	 	 5.60% 	 	 5.85% 	 	 4.60% 	 	 4.10%

Salary increase rate 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 – 

Expected return on plan	
	 assets 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 5.00% 	 	 5.00%

The Company added approximately $0.1 million to its tax reserves 
due to a change in estimate of recoverability, and increased the 
valuation allowance for the net operating loss for Canada by 
approximately $0.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2006. Without 
these items the ETR in 2006 would have been approximately 
39.5%. The ETR in 2005 was 31.8%. The ETR rate in 2005 was 
reduced primarily due to several items that created net tax benefits 
totaling approximately $0.3 million. The Company released a net 
amount of approximately $0.1 million from its tax reserves primar-
ily due to a change in judgment and settlement of open items, 
and also reduced a valuation allowance for its net operating loss 
for Canada by approximately $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 
2005. Without these items the Company’s ETR in 2005 would 
have been approximately 40.1%. 

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 
2006 and 2005 consist of the following: 

	 December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005

Assets

Deferred compensation 	 $	 3,653  	 $	 3,351 

Loss carryforwards 	 	 3,106  	 	 3,353 

Accruals deductible for tax purposes	
	 when paid 	 	 601  	 	 758 

Depreciation 	 	 246  	 	 30 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 	 	 248  	 	 338 

Amortization 	 	 679  	 	 798 

State taxes 	 	 705  	 	 691 

	 Gross deferred tax assets 	 	 9,238  	 	 9,319 

Deferred tax assets valuation allowance 	 	 (2,768) 	 	 (2,559)

Liabilities 

Unrealized gain on investments 	 	 (272) 	 	 (275)

Depreciation 	 	 (23) 	 	 (33)

	 Gross deferred tax liabilities 	 	 (295) 	 	 (308)

Net deferred tax assets 	 $	 6,175  	 $	 6,452 

Net deferred assets and liabilities	
	 are recorded as follows:

Net current assets 	 	 1,185  	 	 1,725 

Net non-current assets 	 	 4,990  	 	 4,727 

Net deferred tax assets 	 $	 6,175  	 $	 6,452 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management 
considers, within each taxing jurisdiction, whether it is more likely 
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will 
not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal 
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and 
tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Factors that 
may affect the Company’s ability to achieve sufficient forecasted 
taxable income in future periods may include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  increased competition, a decline in sales or 
margins, a loss of market share, the availability of qualified profes-
sional staff, and a decrease in demand for IT services. Based upon 
the levels of historical taxable income or loss and projections for 
future taxable income or loss over the years in which the deferred 
tax assets are deductible, at December 31, 2006 management 
believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize 
the benefits, net of the established valuation allowance, of these 
deferred tax assets in the future. 

The Company has various state net operating loss carryforwards 
totaling approximately $10.1 million. These state net operating 
losses have a carryforward period of 5 to 20 years and these 
losses began to expire in 2007. For Canada, the expiration of the 
net operating loss carryforward totaling $0.4 million is 7 years and 
begins to expire in 2008. In Europe, the expiration of the net oper-
ating loss carryforward for The Netherlands totaling $8.1 million is 
9 years and begins to expire in 2009, while in the United Kingdom 
the net operating loss carryforward is approximately $0.3 million, 
and has no expiration date.

At December 31, 2006, the Company has a deferred tax asset 
before the valuation allowance resulting from net operating losses 
in various states of approximately $0.4 million, in The Netherlands 
of approximately $2.4 million, and approximately $0.3 million in 
various other countries where it does business. Management of 
the Company has analyzed each jurisdiction’s tax position, includ-
ing forecasting potential taxable income in future years, and the 
expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards as applicable, 
and determined that it is unclear whether all of the deferred tax 
asset totaling $3.1 million will be realized at any point in the future. 
Accordingly, at December 31, 2006, the Company has offset 
a portion of the asset with a valuation allowance totaling $2.8 
million, resulting in a net deferred tax asset from net operating 
loss carryforwards of approximately $0.3 million. During 2006 the 
valuation allowance was increased by approximately $0.2 million 
net, due to a variety of factors including foreign currency changes 
in The Netherlands of $0.1 million, and $0.1 million related to 
the establishment of the Canadian valuation allowance due to 
a change in estimate of recoverability. In 2005, The Netherlands 
tax authorities settled an audit of the Company’s Dutch foreign 
subsidiary’s 2001 income tax return. A resulting decrease in The 
Netherlands Company’s net operating loss carry forward of $0.9 
million was due primarily to the disallowance of interest expense 
on an intercompany loan with its U.S. parent under thin capitaliza-
tion rules recently affirmed by The Netherlands court system. 
This change had no net effect on the net deferred asset after a 
corresponding adjustment in the valuation allowance which fully 
offsets the deferred tax asset.

During 2004, the Company adopted a tax planning strategy for 
state tax purposes whereby it combined its operating subsidiary 
in the United States into the parent corporation. This combination 
allows the Company to utilize its net operating loss in many of the 
various states where a net operating loss carryforward exists. Due 
to the adoption of this strategy at the end of the fourth quarter of 
2004, the Company was able to recognize $0.5 million for state 
tax net operating loss tax benefits that had previously been fully 
offset by a valuation allowance. At December 31, 2006, there is 
approximately $0.2 million of valuation allowance remaining that 
offsets the state net operating loss deferred tax asset. 

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 
were minimal at December 31, 2006, and are considered to be 
indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal 
and state income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon dis-
tribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, 
the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes 
(subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding 
taxes payable to the various foreign countries. In the event that 
the foreign entities’ earnings were distributed, it is estimated that 
U.S. federal and state income taxes, net of foreign credits, would 
be immaterial. 
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The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected 
to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during 
2007 are as follows:

(amounts in thousands) ESBP

	

NDBP

Post-
Retirement	

Plan Total

Unrecognized	
	 actuarial (gain) loss 	 $	 99  	 $	 (26) 	 $	 4  	 $	 77 

Unrecognized	
	 transition obligation 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 29  	 	 29 

Unrecognized prior 	 	
	 service cost 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 0  	 	 0 

	 $	 99  	 $	 (26)  	 $	 33  	 $	 106 

The Company also maintains a non-qualified defined-contribu-
tion deferred compensation plan for certain key executives. The 
Company contributions to this plan, if any, are based on annually 
defined financial performance objectives. There were $0.2 million 
in contributions to the plan in 2006 for amounts earned in 2005. 
There were no contributions to the plan in 2005 or 2004. The 
Company anticipates making contributions totaling approximately 
$0.4 million to this plan for amounts earned in 2006.

10. Employee Benefits 

401(k) Profit-Sharing Retirement Plan 
The Company maintains a contributory 401(k) profit-sharing retire-
ment plan covering substantially all U.S. employees. Company 
contributions consist of cash, and may include the Company’s 
stock, were funded and charged to operations in the amounts 
of $2.4 million, $2.1 million, and $1.3 million for 2006, 2005, and 
2004, respectively.

Other Retirement Plans
The Company maintains various other defined contribution retirement 
plans covering substantially all of the remaining European employees. 
Company contributions charged to operations were $0.2 million, 
$0.2 million, and $0.1 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Other Postretirement Benefits 
The Company provides limited healthcare and life insurance ben-
efits to one current and nine retired employees and their spouses, 
totaling 16 participants, pursuant to contractual agreements.

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the years ended 
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 is as follows:

	 Net Periodic Postretirement	
	 Benefit Cost
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Interest cost 	 $	 41 	 $	 37 	 $	 38

Amortization of transition amount 	 	 29 	 	 29 	 	 29

Amortization of actuarial loss 	 	 9 	 	 – 	 	 –

	 Net periodic postretirement	
	 	 benefit cost 	 $	 79 	 $	 66 	 $	 67

No adjustments were made to the 2005 net periodic postretire-
ment benefit cost due to Medicare reform as the amounts were 
deemed to be insignificant.

The change in postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 
2006 and 2005 is as follows:

	 Changes in Postretirement	
	 Benefit Obligation
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005

Postretirement benefit obligation	
	 at beginning of year 	 $	 773  	 $	 666 

Interest cost 	 	 41  	 	 37 

Plan amendment 	 	 –  	 	 (2)

Benefits paid 	 	 (54) 	 	 (42)

Actuarial (gain) loss 	 	 (54) 	 	 114 

Postretirement benefit obligation at end of year 	 	 706  	 	 773 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 	 	 –  	 	 – 

Unfunded status 	 	 706  	 	 773 

Unrecognized transition obligation 	 	 –  	 	 (205)

Plan amendment 	 	 –  	 	 2 

Unrecognized loss 	 	 –  	 	 (178)

Accrued postretirement benefit obligation 	 	 706  	 	 392 

Discount rate:

   Benefit obligation 	 	 5.80% 	 	 5.60%

   Net periodic postretirement benefit cost 	 	 5.60% 	 	 5.85%

Salary increase rate 	 	 –  	 	 – 

Benefits paid to participants are funded by the Company as 
needed. Anticipated benefit payments for the postretirement medi-
cal plan are expected to be paid in future years as follows:

	 Year ending December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands)

2007 	 $	 59

2008 	 	 64

2009 	 	 68

2010 	 	 64

2011 	 	 56

2012-2016 	 	 278

	 $	 589

The rate of increase in healthcare costs is assumed to be 11% for 
medical, 6.5% for dental, and 10% for Medicare Part B in 2006, 
gradually declining to 5% by the year 2013 and remaining at that 
level thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rate 
by one percentage point would increase the accrued postretire-
ment benefit obligation by $52,300 at December 31, 2006, and the 
net periodic postretirement benefit cost by $3,000 for the year. A 
one-percentage-point decrease in the healthcare cost trend would 
decrease the accrued postretirement benefit obligation by $46,400 
at December 31, 2006, and the net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost by $2,700 for the year.

For the ESBP, the accumulated benefit obligation at December 
31, 2006 and 2005 was $8.8 million and $9.2 million, respec-
tively. The amounts included in other comprehensive loss relating 
to the pension loss adjustment in 2006 and the minimum pen-
sion liability adjustment for 2005, net of tax, were approximately 
$0.2 million and $(0.1) million, respectively. Benefits paid to 
participants are funded by the Company as needed. The plan is 
deemed unfunded as the Company has not specifically identified 
Company assets to be used to discharge the deferred compen-
sation benefit liabilities. The Company has purchased insurance 
on the lives of certain plan participants in amounts considered 
sufficient to reimburse the Company for the costs associated 
with the plan for those participants. The Company does not 
anticipate making contributions to the plan in 2007 and future 
years to fund the plan.

For the NDBP, the accumulated benefit obligation at September 
29, 2006 and September 30, 2005 was $5.5 million and $5.8 
million, respectively. The assets in the NDBP are 20% invested 
in the Aegon World Equity Fund. This fund invests in global 
equities, with a small portion of the fund in new or emerging 
economies. The remaining 80% of the assets are invested as 
determined by Aegon with no direction from the Company, 
with a guaranteed minimum return to the Company of 4%. The 
historical return to the Company on these investments has been 
approximately 4.5%. The Company’s investments were allocated 
as indicated above in both 2005 and 2006, and the Company 
does not anticipate changing these allocation percentages in 
2007. The expected return on plan assets for 2005 and 2006 
was a function of the average historical return of 4.5% on the 
80% of the funds invested by Aegon, and a historical return of 
9% on the 20% of the funds invested in the Aegon Equity Fund. 
The Company does not anticipate making significant additional 
contributions to the plan in 2007 and future years, as the plan is 
currently fully funded.

Anticipated benefit payments for the ESBP and the NDBP are 
expected to be paid in future years as follows:

	 Year ending December 31,
	 (amounts in thousands) ESBP NDBP

2007 	 $	 734 	 $	 46

2008 	 	 759 	 	 58

2009 	 	 779 	 	 63

2010 	 	 761 	 	 80

2011 	 	 749 	 	 84

2012-2016 	 	 3,587 	 	 683

	 $	7,369 	 $	1,014

For December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 
158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans” (FAS 158). FAS 158 required the Company to 
recognize the funded status of its plans, measured as the difference 
between the fair value of the plan assets and the benefit obligation, 
in its consolidated balance sheet. Additionally, FAS 158 required 
the Company to recognize as a component of other accumulated 
comprehensive loss, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service 
costs or credits that arose during the period but were not recognized 
as components of net periodic pension cost. The disclosures below 
relate to the application of FAS 158 to the ESBP, the NDBP, and 
the postretirement benefit plan discussed in note 10, “Employee 
Benefits,” under the caption “Other Postretirement Benefits.”

The incremental effect of applying FAS 158 on individual line items 
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet for December 31, 
2006 is as follows:

(amounts in thousands)
Prior to	
FAS 158

	
Adjustment

After	
FAS 158

Deferred income taxes 	 $	 5,102  	 $	 (112) 	 $	 4,990 

Other assets 	 $	 2,653  	 $	 26  	 $	 2,679 

Total assets 	 $	111,803  	 $	 (86) 	 $	111,717 

Deferred compensation benefits 	 $	 8,503  	 $	 289  	 $	 8,792 

Total liabilities 	 $	 49,797  	 $	 289  	 $	 50,086 

Accumulated other comprehensive	
	 loss 	 $	 3,987  	 $	 151  	 $	 4,138 

Total shareholders’ equity 	 $	 61,782  	 $	 (151) 	 $	 61,631 

The amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
net of tax, that have not yet been recognized as components of net 
periodic benefit cost as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

(amounts in thousands) ESBP

	

NDBP

Post-
Retirement	

Plan Total

Unrecognized	
	 actuarial (gain) loss 	 $	 1,325  	 $	 (26) 	 $	 71  	 $	 1,370 

Unrecognized	
	 transition obligation 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 107  	 	 107 

Unrecognized prior 	 	
	 service cost 	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	 (1)  	 	 (1) 

	 $	 1,325  	 $	 (26)  	 $	 177  	 $	 1,476 

The amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
net of tax, that had not yet been recognized as a component of 
net periodic benefit cost as of December 31, 2005 was an unrec-
ognized actuarial loss of $1,499,000 for the ESBP.

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss, net of tax, 
for 2006, 2005, and 2004 consists of an actuarial (gain) loss of 
$(174,000), $110,000, and $178,000, respectively for the ESBP.
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12. Stock Option Plans

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” and related interpretations on a modified 
prospective basis, which required the Company to record equity-based compensation expense for all awards granted after the date of 
adoption and for the unvested portion of previously granted awards outstanding as of the date of adoption. This FAS establishes standards 
for the accounting for transactions in which the Company exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. The standard requires 
the Company to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based upon the grant date 
fair value of the award. Currently, the Company issues stock options and restricted stock in exchange for employee and director services. 
With the adoption of the standard, the calculated cost of its equity-based compensation awards is recognized in the Company’s statement 
of operations over the period in which an employee or director is required to provide the services for the award. Compensation cost will not 
be recognized for employees or directors that do not render the requisite services. The Company recognizes the expense for equity-based 
compensation in its income statements on a straight-line basis based upon awards that are ultimately expected to vest. As part of the 
adoption of the standard, the Company is required to estimate forfeitures. These estimates will be revised, as applicable, in subsequent 
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company’s pro forma information related to stock-based compensation for 
periods prior to January 1, 2006 (see note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for “Stock-Based Employee Compensation”), 
the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized compensation expense of $856,000 in its statement of operations as 
selling, general and administrative expenses. The tax benefit recorded for this compensation expense was $260,000, resulting in a net 
after tax cost to the Company of $596,000 for 2006. No compensation cost was recognized in the statement of operations for either 
2005 or 2004 as the Company continued to apply the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (APB No. 25) and related interpretations, as all options granted by the Company 
had an exercise price that was equal to or greater than the underlying common stock at the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has two stock-based incentive plans. On April 26, 2000, the shareholders approved the 
Company’s Equity Award Plan (Equity Plan). Under the provisions of the plan, stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, 
and other awards may be granted or awarded to employees and directors of the Company. The compensation committee of the Board of 
Directors determines the nature, amount, pricing, and vesting of the grant or award. All options and awards remain in effect until the earlier 
of the expiration, exercise, or surrender date. For the most part, options generally become exercisable in three or four equal annual install-
ments, beginning one year from the date of grant. In certain limited instances, options granted with market price conditions are expected 
to vest nine and one-half years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2006, a total of 3,500,000 shares may be awarded under this 
plan, and 768,125 shares are available for grant as of that date.

On April 24, 1991, the shareholders approved the Company’s 1991 Employee Stock Option Plan (1991 Plan). Under the provisions of the 
plan, options may be granted to employees and directors of the Company. The option price for options granted under this plan is equal to 
or greater than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date the option is granted. Incentive stock options generally 
become exercisable in four annual installments of 25% of the shares covered by the grant, beginning one year from the date of grant, 
and expire six years after becoming exercisable. Nonqualified stock options generally become exercisable in either four or five annual 
installments of 20 or 25% of the shares covered by the grant, beginning one year from the date of grant, and expire up to 15 years from 
the date of grant. All options remain in effect until the earlier of the expiration, exercise, or surrender date. There are no options available 
for grant under this plan as of December 31, 2006.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted on the date of grant. The 
per-option weighted-average fair value on the date of grant of stock options granted in 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $2.17, $2.12, and $2.32, 
respectively. The fair value of the options at the date of grant was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:

2006 2005 2004

Expected life (years) 4.0  3.4   3.8  

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk-free interest rate 5.0% 3.7% 2.8%

Expected volatility 55.2% 68.0% 78.4%

11. Shareholders’ Equity 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
Under the Company’s First Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Plan), employees may apply up to 10% of their compensation to purchase the 
Company’s common stock. Shares are purchased at the closing market price on the business day preceding the date of purchase. As 
of December 31, 2006, approximately 149,000 shares remain unissued under the Plan, of the total of 11.5 million shares that had been 
authorized under the Plan. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, approximately 35,000, 39,000, and 41,000 shares, respectively, were purchased 
under the plan at an average price of $4.20, $3.66, and $3.92 per share, respectively. 

Shareholder Rights Plan 
The Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan in January 1989. Under the plan, one right was distributed for each share 
of common stock outstanding on January 27, 1989, and on each additional share of common stock issued after that date and prior 
to the date the rights become exercisable. The rights become exercisable when 20% or more of the Company’s outstanding common 
stock is acquired by a person or group, other than Company-provided employee benefit plans, and when an offer to acquire is made. 
Each right entitles the holder to purchase Series A preferred stock (which is essentially equivalent to common stock) at a 50% discount 
from the then-market price of the common stock or, in the event of a merger, consolidation, or sale of a major part of the Company’s 
assets, to purchase common stock of the acquiring company at a 50% discount from its then-market price. The Shareholder Rights 
Plan was amended in 1999 to provide that the rights expire in November 2008. The rights may be redeemed by the Company at a 
price of $.01 per right. 

Stock Trusts  
The Company maintains a Stock Employee Compensation Trust (SECT) to provide funding for existing employee stock plans and benefit 
programs. Shares are purchased by and released from the SECT by the trustee of the SECT at the request of the compensation committee 
of the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2006, all shares remaining in the SECT were unallocated and, therefore, are not considered 
outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share. 

SECT activity for the year’s ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 is as follows:

(amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Share balance at beginning	
	 of year 3,881  3,999  4,093 

Shares purchased –   –  – 

Shares released:

	 Stock option plans (185) (79) (53)

	 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (35) (39) (41)

	 Restricted stock issuance (97) –  – 

Share balance at end of year 3,564  3,881  3,999 

During 1999, the Company created an Omnibus Stock Trust (OST) to provide funding for various employee benefit programs. During 
1999, the OST purchased 59,000 shares for $1 million. Shares are released from the OST by the trustee at the request of the compensa-
tion committee of the Board of Directors. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, no shares were purchased or released by the OST.

Restricted Stock Plan 
Under the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan, 800,000 shares of restricted stock may be granted to certain key employees. At December 
31, 2006, there are no restricted stock grants outstanding under this plan, and there was no restricted stock activity under this plan in 
2004, 2005, or 2006.

Preferred Stock
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company has 2,500,000 shares of par value $0.01 preferred stock authorized for issuance, but 
none outstanding.
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A summary of options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 for the Equity and 1991 Plans is as follows:  

	 Range of 	
	 Exercise Prices Number Outstanding

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Life (Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic	
Value  

Equity Plan
$1.40 - $1.96 180,000 	 $	 1.40 11.0 	 $	 603,000

$2.24 - $3.26 1,239,625 	 $	 3.08 9.0 	 $	 2,064,311

$3.48 - $4.90 1,469,250 	 $	 4.39 7.8 	 $	 573,630

$5.30 - $5.94 460,000 	 $	 5.56 8.0 	 	 –

3,348,875 	 $	 3,240,941

1991 Plan
$2.88 96,750 	 $	 2.88 2.4 	 $	 181,406

$5.13 - $6.13 260,000 	 $	 5.93 6.1 	 	 –

$16.19 - $21.94 248,313 	 $	 19.57 2.1 	 	 –

$26.06 - $37.19 47,763 	 $	 31.58 3.1 	 	 –

652,826 	 $	 181,406

A summary of options exercisable at December 31, 2006 for the Equity and 1991 Plans is as follows:

	 Range of 	
	 Exercise Prices Number Outstanding

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Life (Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic	
Value  

Equity Plan
$1.40 - $1.96 180,000 	 $	 1.40 11.0 	 $	 603,000

$2.24 - $3.26 780,125 	 $	 3.08 8.9 	 $	 1,302,872

$3.48 - $4.90 1,030,750 	 $	 4.34 7.1 	 $	 478,480

$5.30 - $5.94 460,000 	 $	 5.56 8.0 	 	 –

2,450,875 	 $	 2,384,352

1991 Plan
$2.88 96,750 	 $	 2.88 2.4 	 $	 181,406

$5.13 - $6.13 260,000 	 $	 5.93 6.1 	 	 –

$16.19 - $21.94 248,313 	 $	 19.57 2.1 	 	 –

$26.06 - $37.19 47,763 	 $	 31.58 3.1 	 	 –

652,826 	 $	 181,406

The aggregate intrinsic values as calculated in the above charts are based upon the Company’s closing stock price on December 31, 2006 
of $4.75 per share.

The Company used historical volatility calculated using daily closing prices for its common stock over periods that match the expected term of the 
option granted to estimate the expected volatility for the grants made in 2004, 2005 and 2006. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based 
upon U.S. Treasury yields appropriate for the expected term of the Company’s stock options based upon the date of grant. The expected term of 
the stock options granted was based upon the options expected vesting schedule and historical exercise patterns. The expected dividend yield 
was based upon the Company’s recent history of paying dividends, and the expectation of paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

During 2006, the Company issued restricted stock to certain employees and its independent directors. For the employees, the stock vests 
over a period of four years, with 25% of the stock issued vesting one year from the date of grant, and another 25% vesting each year 
thereafter until the stock is fully vested to the employee. The Company is recognizing compensation expense for these shares ratably over 
the expected term of the restricted stock, or four years. For the independent directors, the issued stock vests at retirement. As the directors 
are eligible for retirement from the Company’s board at any point, the Company recognized the expense associated with these shares on 
the date of grant. The restricted shares issued are considered outstanding, and are eligible to receive dividends, if any are paid, and can be 
voted. However, only vested shares of outstanding restricted stock are included in the calculation of basic earnings per share. 

As of December 31, 2006, total remaining stock-based compensation expense for non-vested equity-based compensation is approximately 
$1.3 million, which is expected to be recognized on a weighted-average basis over the next 20 months. Historically, the Company has issued 
shares out of its Stock Employee Compensation Trust to fulfill the share requirements from stock option exercises and restricted stock grants.

A summary of stock option activity under these plans is as follows:

Equity Plan	
Options

Weighted-Average	
Exercise Price

1991 Plan	
Options

Weighted-Average 	
Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,985,250  $  3.40 1,201,375  $  14.14

   Granted 944,500  $  4.05 –  –

   Exercised (28,250) $  3.16 (24,750) $    2.87

   Canceled and forfeited (167,500) $  3.54 (190,000) $  16.25

   Expired –  –  (36,587) $  21.30

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 2,734,000  $  3.62 950,038  $  13.74

   Granted 733,500  $  4.18 –  –

   Exercised (69,500) $  2.89 (9,375) $    2.87

   Canceled and forfeited (173,250) $  3.71 (18,625) $  12.92

   Expired –  –  (53,074) $  20.94

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 3,224,750  $  3.76 868,964  $  13.43

   Granted 473,000  $  4.54 –  –

   Exercised (172,750) $  2.78 (12,000) $    2.88

   Canceled and forfeited (176,125) $  3.94 (27,000) $  17.87

   Expired –  –  (177,138) $  16.75

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 3,348,875  $  3.91 652,826  $  12.55

Options exercisable at	
	 December 31, 2006 2,450,875  $  3.95 652,826  $  12.55

For 2006, 2005 and 2004, the intrinsic value of the options exercised under the Equity Plan was approximately $279,000, $72,900 and 
$26,900, respectively, while the intrinsic value of the options exercised under the 1991 Plan for the same year’s was $19,800, $8,900 
and $30,800, respectively.

A summary of restricted stock activity for the year-to-date period ended December 31, 2006 under the Equity Plan is as follows:

Equity Plan	
Restricted Stock

Weighted-Average	
Market Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 –  –

	 Granted 97,500  $  4.40

	 Canceled and forfeited (2,000) $  4.65

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 95,500  $  4.39

As of December 31, 2006, 60,000 shares of the outstanding restricted stock are vested.
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

	 Quarters
	 (amounts in thousands, except per-share data) First Second Third Fourth Total

2006
Revenue 	 $	 83,643  	 $	 85,765  	 $	 79,830  	 $	 78,015  	 $	 327,253 

Direct costs 	 	 65,525  	 	 67,058  	 	 61,595  	 	 58,923  	 	 253,101 

Gross profit 	 	 18,118  	 	 18,707  	 	 18,235  	 	 19,092  	 	 74,152 

Selling, general, and administrative	
	 expenses 	 	 16,557  	 	 17,164  	 	 16,493  	 	 17,084  	 	 67,298 

Operating income 	 	 1, 561  	 	 1,543  	 	 1,742  	 	 2,008  	 	 6,854 

Interest and other expense, net 	 	 (322) 	 	 (149) 	 	 (143) 	 	 (91) 	 	 (705)

Income before income taxes 	 	 1,239  	 	 1,394  	 	 1,599  	 	 1,917  	 	 6,149 

Provision for income taxes 	 	 452  	 	 586  	 	 767  	 	 849  	 	 2,654 

Net income 	 $	 787  	 $	 808  	 $	 832  	 $	 1,068  	 $	 3,495 

Basic net income per share 	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.07  	 $	 0.21 

Diluted net income per share 	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.05  	 $	 0.06  	 $	 0.21 

	 Quarters
	 (amounts in thousands, except per-share data) First Second Third Fourth Total

2005

Revenue 	 $	 68,683  	 $	 72,910  	 $	 74,805  	 $	 78,067  	 $	 294,465 

Direct costs 	 	 52,170  	 	 56,505  	 	 57,920  	 	 60,068  	 	 226,663 

Gross profit 	 	 16,513  	 	 16,405  	 	 16,885  	 	 17,999  	 	 67,802 

Selling, general, and administrative	
	 expenses 	 	 15,585  	 	 15,247  	 	 15,452  	 	 16,593  	 	 62,877 

Operating income 	 	 928  	 	 1,158  	 	 1,433  	 	 1,406  	 	 4,925 

Interest and other expense, net 	 	 (222) 	 	 (372) 	 	 (362) 	 	 (415) 	 	 (1,371)

Income before income taxes 	 	 706  	 	 786  	 	 1,071  	 	 991  	 	 3,554 

Provision for income taxes 	 	 222  	 	 163  	 	 431  	 	 315  	 	 1,131 

Net income 	 $	 484  	 $	 623  	 $	 640  	 $	 676  	 $	 2,423 

Basic net income per share 	 $	 0.03  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.14 

Diluted net income per share 	 $	 0.03  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.04  	 $	 0.14 

13. Significant Customer 

International Business Machines (IBM) is the Company’s largest customer. IBM accounted for $115.4 million or 35.3%, $105.5 million or 
35.8%, and $52.6 million or 22.2% of consolidated 2006, 2005, and 2004 revenue, respectively. The Company’s accounts receivable from 
IBM at December 31, 2006 and 2005 amounted to $10.9 million and $33.9 million, respectively. The Company expects to continue to 
derive a significant portion of its revenue from IBM in 2007 and in future years. However, a significant decline in revenue from IBM would 
have a significant negative effect on the Company’s revenue and profits.  No other customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in 
2006, 2005, or 2004.

14. Litigation

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved from time to time in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. 
Although the outcome of lawsuits or other proceedings involving the Company and its subsidiaries cannot be predicted with certainty and 
the amount of any liability that could arise with respect to such lawsuits or other proceedings cannot be predicted accurately, manage-
ment does not expect these matters to have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of the 
Company.

15. Enterprise-Wide Disclosures 

The Company operates in one industry segment, providing information technology (IT) professional services to its clients. The services pro-
vided include flexible and strategic staffing and the planning, design, implementation, and maintenance of comprehensive IT solutions. All 
of the Company’s revenue is generated from these services. CTG’s reportable information is based on geographical areas. The accounting 
policies of the individual geographical areas are the same as those described in note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” All 
information has been revised as applicable to reflect the results from continuing operations only and therefore exclude the results of CTG 
Nederland, B.V. which was sold with an effective date of January 1, 2004 (see note 3 – “Discontinued Operations”).

	 Financial Information	
	 About Geographic Areas
	 (amounts in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Revenue from External Customers

	 United States 	 $	 265,386 	 $	 243,223 	 $	 191,648

	 Belgium 	 	 41,500 	 	 32,940 	 	 28,694

	 Other European countries 	 	 17,447 	 	 15,384 	 	 14,724

	 Other countries 	 	 2,920 	 	 2,918 	 	 2,056

 	 	 Total revenue 	 $	 327,253 	 $	 294,465 	 $	 237,122

Long-lived Assets

	 United States 	 $	 5,102 	 $	 5,950 	 $	 5,309

	 Europe 	 	 816 	 	 666 	 	 766

 	 	 Total long-lived assets 	 $	 5,918 	 $	 6,616 	 $	 6,075

Deferred Tax Assets, Net of Valuation Allowance

	 United States 	 $	 6,260 	 $	 6,274 	 $	 5,760

	 Europe 	 	 189 	 	 325 	 	 760

	 Other countries 	 	 21 	 	 161 	 	 –

 	 	 Total deferred tax assets, net 	 $	 6,470 	 $	 6,760 	 $	 6,520
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Computer Task Group, Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Computer Task Group, Incorporated and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Computer Task Group, Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Shared-Based Payment and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Computer Task Group, Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 7, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the 
effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

Buffalo, New York 
March 7, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting. 
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not 
prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with 
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting may deteriorate. 

Management of the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based 
on the Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based 
on that evaluation, the Company’s management did not identify any control deficiencies it considered to be material weaknesses under the 
rules specified by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s Auditing Standard No. 2, and therefore concluded that its internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. 

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued a report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Management’s Annual Report
On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

James R. Boldt
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Brendan M. Harrington 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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The following graph shows a five-year comparison of cumulative total shareholder returns for the Company’s common stock, the S&P 500 
Index, and a Peer Group, assuming a base index of $100 at the end of 2001. The cumulative total return for each annual period within 
the five years presented is measured by dividing (1) the sum of (A) the cumulative amount of dividends for the period, assuming dividend 
reimbursement, and (B) the difference between the Company’s share price at the end and the beginning of the period by (2) the share price 
at the beginning of the period. The calculations were made excluding trading commissions and taxes.

Comparative Stock Performance

	 	 	 Base Period 	 Indexed Returns Years Ending

Dec. 31, 2001 Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2006

Computer Task Group, Inc. 100 88.58 	 98.73 	 142.13 	 100.25 	 120.56

S&P 500 Index 100 	 77.90 	 100.25 	 111.15 	 116.61 	 135.03

Peer Group 100 	 44.86 	 62.29 	 65.58 	 73.61   70.62

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Computer Task Group, Incorporated:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting, that Computer Task Group, Incorporated (the Company) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consoli-
dated balance sheets of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, 
and our report dated March 7, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Buffalo, New York 
March 7, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
On Internal Control

The Peer Group comprises the following companies which are in the business of providing software and information technology services: Analysts International Corporation; Ciber, Inc.; 
Computer Horizons Corp.; Compuware Corporation; Keane, Inc.; and Technology Solutions Company.
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Stock Market Information
The Company’s stock is traded on the NASDAQ stock market under 
the symbol CTGX. Prior to June 6, 2006, the Company’s stock was 
traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CTG. 
The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for the 
Company’s common stock for the previous two years.

Stock Price  	 High   	 Low

Year ended December 31, 2006

Fourth Quarter $4.90 $3.57

Third Quarter $5.00 $3.40

Second Quarter $6.00 $3.91

First Quarter $4.60 $3.80

Year ended December 31, 2005

Fourth Quarter $4.20 $3.40

Third Quarter $4.00 $3.50

Second Quarter $3.90 $2.83

First Quarter $5.71 $3.50

On February 26, 2007, there were 2,727 record holders of the 
Company’s common shares. The Company has not paid a dividend 
since 2000. The Company paid an annual cash dividend of $.05 
per share from 1993 to 2000 and, prior to that, paid $.025 per 
share annually since 1976 plus a 10% share dividend in 1980. The 
Company is required to meet certain financial covenants under 
its current revolving credit agreement in order to pay dividends.  
The Company was in compliance with these financial covenants 
at December 31, 2006. The determination of the timing, amount 
and payment of dividends on the Company’s common stock in 
the future is at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will 
depend upon, among other things, the Company’s profitability, 
liquidity, financial condition, capital requirements and compliance 
with the aforementioned financial covenants.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders has been scheduled for 
May 9, 2007 in Buffalo, New York, for shareholders of record on 
March 23, 2007.

Company Certifications
The Company has filed all certifications provided by its Chief Execu-
tive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as required by the rules of the 
New York Stock Exchange and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Form 10-K and Company Code of Ethics, 
Committee Charters and Governance 
Policies Available 
Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K Annual Report, quarterly reports 
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to 
those reports including the Company’s code of ethics, committee 
charters and governance policies which are filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, may be obtained without charge either 
through its website at www.ctg.com/investors or upon written or 
verbal request to: 

Computer Task Group, Incorporated  
Investor Relations Department  
800 Delaware Avenue  
Buffalo, NY 14209-2094 
(716) 887-7400

Transfer Agent and Registrar 
ComputerShare 
Our Transfer Agent is responsible for our shareholder records, 
issuance of stock certificates, and distribution of our dividends 
and the IRS Form 1099. Your requests, as shareholders, concern-
ing these matters are most efficiently answered by corresponding 
directly with ComputerShare: 

ComputerShare Trust Company, N.A.  
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, RI 02940-3078 
(781) 575-3170 (MA residents)  
(800) 730-4001  
(781) 828-8813 (fax) 
www.computershare.com

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP  
12 Fountain Plaza, Suite 601  
Buffalo, NY 14202

Corporate Information

This report contains forward-looking statements by management and the Company that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking statements contained in the report 
are based on information as of the date of this report. The Company assumes no obligation to update these statements based on information from and after the date of this report. Generally, 
forward-looking statements include words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects,” “could,” “may,” “might,” “should,” “will” and words and 
phrases of similar impact. The forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding future operations, industry trends or conditions and the business environment, and 
statements regarding future levels of, or trends in, revenues, operating expenses, capital expenditures, and financing. The forward-looking statements are made pursuant to safe harbor provisions of 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Numerous factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including the following: (i) industry 
conditions, including fluctuations in demand for IT services, (ii) the availability to us of qualified professional staff, (iii) industry competition, (iv) rate and wage inflation or deflation, (v) risks associated 
with operating in foreign jurisdictions, (vi) the impact of current and future laws and government regulation, as well as repeal or modification of same, affecting the IT solutions and staffing industry, 
taxes and the Company’s operations in particular, (vii) renegotiations, nullification, or breaches of contracts with customers, vendors, subcontractors or other parties, (viii) consolidation among the 
Company’s competitors or customers, (ix) the partial or complete loss of the revenue the Company generates from IBM, and (x) the risks described elsewhere herein and from time to time in the 
Company’s reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Randall L. Clark
Chairman of Dunn Tire LLC

James R. Boldt
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of CTG

Randolph A. Marks
Co-Founder of CTG 
and Retired Chairman of 
American Brass Company

Dr. John M. Palms
Chairman of the Board 
of Assurant, Inc.

Daniel J. Sullivan
Retired President and  
Chief Executive Officer  
of FedEx Ground

George B. Beitzel
Retired Senior Vice President 
and Director of IBM

Thomas E. Baker
Retired President of the 
John R. Oishei Foundation

From left to right:  Stephen D’Anna, Vice President, Operations, IT 
Solutions; N. Clair Detraz, Vice President, Strategic Planning and 
Marketing, CTGHS*; Thomas J. Niehaus, Senior Vice President 
and General Manager, CTGHS*

From left to right:  Paul F. Dimouro, Senior Vice President, Strategic 
Staffing Services—Commercial Accounts; Brendan M. Harrington, 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; G. David Baer, 
Executive Vice President

From left to right:  Michael E. Lippman, Vice President, Sales, CTGHS*; 
Peter P. Radetich, Senior Vice President, Secretary, and General 
Counsel; John M. Laubacker, Treasurer; James R. Boldt, Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer

From left to right:  Michael J. Colson, Senior Vice President, Solutions; 
Arthur W. Crumlish, Senior Vice President and General Manager, 
Strategic Staffing Services; Filip J.L. Gydé, Senior Vice President 
and General Manager, CTG Europe
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